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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

CORECIVIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
 

ASSETS   June 30, 2023     December 31, 2022  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 41,840     $ 149,401  
Restricted cash     13,256       12,764  
Accounts receivable, net of credit loss reserve of $7,771 and $8,008, respectively     261,539       312,435  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     37,087       32,134  
Assets held for sale     —       6,936  

Total current assets     353,722       513,670  
Real estate and related assets:            
   Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,771,005 
       and $1,716,283, respectively     2,141,714       2,176,098  
   Other real estate assets     204,850       208,181  
Goodwill     4,844       4,844  
Other assets     322,651       341,976  

Total assets   $ 3,027,781     $ 3,244,769  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY            

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 260,395     $ 285,226  
Current portion of long-term debt     13,243       165,525  

Total current liabilities     273,638       450,751  
Long-term debt, net     1,058,816       1,084,858  
Deferred revenue     20,109       22,590  
Non-current deferred tax liabilities     95,674       99,618  
Other liabilities     140,408       154,544  

Total liabilities     1,588,645       1,812,361  
Commitments and contingencies            
Preferred stock – $0.01 par value; 50,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding
   at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively     —       —  
Common stock – $0.01 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 113,605 and 114,988 
   shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 
   respectively     1,136       1,150  
Additional paid-in capital     1,787,207       1,807,689  
Accumulated deficit     (349,207 )     (376,431 )

Total stockholders' equity     1,439,136       1,432,408  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   $ 3,027,781     $ 3,244,769  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORECIVIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
 
 

 
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  
REVENUE   $ 463,682     $ 456,697     $ 921,684     $ 909,685  
EXPENSES:                        

Operating     362,008       349,000       716,545       693,629  
General and administrative     32,612       31,513       65,291       62,614  
Depreciation and amortization     31,615       32,259       62,657       64,287  
Shareholder litigation expense     —       1,900       —       1,900  

      426,235       414,672       844,493       822,430  
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):                        

Interest expense, net     (18,268 )     (21,668 )     (37,419 )     (44,588 )
Expenses associated with debt repayments
    and refinancing transactions     (226 )     (6,805 )     (226 )     (6,805 )
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate assets, net     (25 )     1,060       (25 )     3,321  
Other income (expense)     78       (37 )     31       1,005  

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES     19,006       14,575       39,552       40,188  
Income tax expense     (4,176 )     (4,013 )     (12,322 )     (10,623 )

NET INCOME   $ 14,830     $ 10,562       27,230       29,565  
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE   $ 0.13     $ 0.09     $ 0.24     $ 0.25  
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE   $ 0.13     $ 0.09     $ 0.24     $ 0.24  
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORECIVIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)
 

 
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:            

Net income   $ 27,230     $ 29,565  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 
      operating activities:            

Depreciation and amortization     62,657       64,287  
Amortization of debt issuance costs and other non-cash interest     2,331       3,164  
Expenses associated with debt repayments and refinancing transactions     226       6,805  
Loss (gain) on sale of real estate assets, net     25       (3,321 )
Deferred income taxes     (3,944 )     3,671  
Non-cash revenue and other income     (1,391 )     (2,505 )
Non-cash equity compensation     10,157       9,720  
Other expenses and non-cash items     3,455       2,543  
Changes in assets and liabilities, net:            

Accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets     48,942       (6,880 )
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities     (23,820 )     (12,735 )

Net cash provided by operating activities     125,868       94,314  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:            

Expenditures for facility development and expansions     (3,155 )     (13,789 )
Expenditures for other capital improvements     (23,251 )     (20,075 )
Net proceeds from sale of assets     5,918       10,957  
Decrease (increase) in other assets     (1,137 )     161  

Net cash used in investing activities     (21,625 )     (22,746 )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:            

Proceeds from borrowings from credit facility     100,000       100,000  
Scheduled principal repayments     (5,518 )     (10,278 )
Principal repayments of credit facility     (100,000 )     —  
Other repayments of debt     (174,754 )     (295,139 )
Payment of debt defeasance, issuance and other refinancing and related costs     (83 )     (8,046 )
Payment of lease obligations for financing leases     (295 )     (285 )
Dividends paid on RSUs     (131 )     (886 )
Purchase and retirement of common stock     (30,531 )     (40,236 )

Net cash used in financing activities     (211,312 )     (254,870 )
NET DECREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
      RESTRICTED CASH     (107,069 )     (183,302 )
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, beginning of period     162,165       310,707  
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, end of period   $ 55,096     $ 127,405  
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES            

Establishment of right of use assets and lease liabilities   $ 224     $ 1,590  
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:            

Cash paid during the period for:            
Interest (net of amounts capitalized of $0.5 million in 2022)   $ 42,379     $ 46,312  
Income taxes paid   $ 13,225     $ 14,225  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORECIVIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIODS DURING 2023
(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

 
    Stockholders' Equity  
                Additional           Total  
    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Stockholders'  
    Shares     Par Value     Capital     Deficit     Equity  
Balance as of December 31, 2022     114,988     $ 1,150     $ 1,807,689     $ (376,431 )   $ 1,432,408  
Net income     —       —       —       12,400       12,400  
Retirement of common stock     (2,980 )     (30 )     (29,924 )     —       (29,954 )
Dividends on RSUs     —       —       —       (6 )     (6 )
Restricted stock compensation, net of forfeitures     —       —       4,884       —       4,884  
Restricted stock grants     1,677       17       (17 )     —       —  
Balance as of March 31, 2023     113,685     $ 1,137     $ 1,782,632     $ (364,037 )   $ 1,419,732  
Net income     —       —       —       14,830       14,830  
Retirement of common stock     (84 )     (1 )     (698 )     —       (699 )
Restricted stock compensation, net of forfeitures     —       —       5,273       —       5,273  
Restricted stock grants     4       —       —       —       —  
Balance as of June 30, 2023     113,605     $ 1,136     $ 1,787,207     $ (349,207 )   $ 1,439,136  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORECIVIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIODS DURING 2022
(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

 
    Stockholders' Equity  
                Additional           Total  
    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Stockholders'  
    Shares     Par Value     Capital     Deficit     Equity  
Balance as of December 31, 2021     120,285     $ 1,203     $ 1,869,955     $ (498,690 )   $ 1,372,468  
Net income     —       —       —       19,003       19,003  
Retirement of common stock     (518 )     (5 )     (5,139 )     —       (5,144 )
Dividends on RSUs     —       —       —       (77 )     (77 )
Restricted stock compensation, net of forfeitures     —       —       5,267       —       5,267  
Restricted stock grants     1,819       18       (18 )     —       —  
Balance as of March 31, 2022     121,586     $ 1,216     $ 1,870,065     $ (479,764 )   $ 1,391,517  
Net income     —       —       —       10,562       10,562  
Retirement of common stock     (2,985 )     (30 )     (37,569 )     —       (37,599 )
Forfeiture of dividends on RSUs     —       —       —       7       7  
Restricted stock compensation, net of forfeitures     —       —       4,453       —       4,453  
Restricted stock grants     19       —       —       —       —  
Balance as of June 30, 2022     118,620     $ 1,186     $ 1,836,949     $ (469,195 )   $ 1,368,940  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CORECIVIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

 
JUNE 30, 2023

 
1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS

CoreCivic, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the "Company" or "CoreCivic") is the nation's largest owner of partnership correctional, detention, 
and residential reentry facilities and one of the largest prison operators in the United States ("U.S.").  Through three segments, CoreCivic Safety, 
CoreCivic Community, and CoreCivic Properties, the Company provides a broad range of solutions to government partners that serve the public 
good through corrections and detention management, a network of residential reentry centers to help address America's recidivism crisis, and 
government real estate solutions.  As of June 30, 2023, through its CoreCivic Safety segment, the Company operated 44 correctional and detention 
facilities, 40 of which the Company owned, with a total design capacity of approximately 66,000 beds.  Through its CoreCivic Community segment, 
the Company owned and operated 23 residential reentry centers with a total design capacity of approximately 5,000 beds.  In addition, through its 
CoreCivic Properties segment, the Company owned 6 properties, with a total design capacity of approximately 9,000 beds, leased to government 
agencies.  

In addition to providing fundamental residential services, CoreCivic's correctional, detention, and reentry facilities offer a variety of rehabilitation 
and educational programs, including basic education, faith-based services, life skills and employment training, and substance abuse treatment.  
These services are intended to help reduce recidivism and to prepare offenders for their successful reentry into society upon their release. CoreCivic 
also provides or makes available to offenders certain health care (including medical, dental, and mental health services), food services, and work and 
recreational programs.

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company and, in the opinion of management, 
reflect all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of results for the unaudited interim periods presented.  Certain information 
and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles have 
been condensed or omitted.  The results of operations for the interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results to be obtained for the full 
fiscal year.  Reference is made to the audited financial statements of CoreCivic included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on February 21, 2023 (the "2022 Form 10-K") with respect to 
certain significant accounting and financial reporting policies as well as other pertinent information of the Company. 

Risks and Uncertainties

On January 26, 2021, President Biden issued the Executive Order on Reforming Our Incarceration System to Eliminate the Use of Privately 
Operated Criminal Detention Facilities ("Private Prison EO"). The Private Prison EO directs the Attorney General to not renew United States 
Department of Justice ("DOJ") contracts with privately operated criminal detention facilities.  The United States Marshals Service ("USMS") is an 
agency of the DOJ that utilizes CoreCivic's facilities and services, and accounted for 22% of CoreCivic's total revenue for the year ended December 
31, 2022. Another federal agency that utilizes CoreCivic's facilities and services, U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement ("ICE"), is not 
covered by the Private Prison EO, as ICE is an agency of the Department of Homeland Security ("DHS"), not the DOJ. 

CoreCivic currently has two detention facilities that have direct contracts with the USMS that expire in September 2023 and September 2025.  The 
facility with the contract expiring in September 2023 services a substantial number of USMS detainees that the Company believes will be 
challenging to replace, and the Company intends to work with the USMS to enable it to continue to fulfill its mission. However, the Company can 
provide no assurance that this contract will be renewed or replaced upon expiration.  It is too early to predict the outcome of the expiration of the 
contract scheduled to expire in September 2025, and future developments could occur prior to the scheduled expiration date.  
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

Recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB (including its Emerging Issues Task Force), the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the SEC applicable to financial statements beginning January 1, 2023 or later did not, or are not expected to, have a material effect 
on the Company's results of operations or financial position.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
To meet the reporting requirements of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 825, "Financial Instruments", regarding fair value of financial 
instruments, CoreCivic calculates the estimated fair value of financial instruments using market interest rates, quoted market prices of similar 
instruments, or discounted cash flow techniques with observable Level 1 inputs for publicly traded debt and Level 2 inputs for all other financial 
instruments, as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement".  At June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were no material differences 
between the carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of CoreCivic's financial instruments, other than as follows (in thousands):

 
    June 30, 2023     December 31, 2022  
 

 
Carrying
Amount     Fair Value    

Carrying
Amount     Fair Value  

Note receivable from Agecroft Prison Management, LTD   $ 2,870     $ 3,200     $ 2,741     $ 3,076  
Debt   $ (1,084,250 )   $ (1,050,167 )   $ (1,264,522 )   $ (1,247,201 )

 
3. GOODWILL

ASU 2017-04, "Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test of Goodwill Impairment", establishes accounting and reporting 
requirements for goodwill and other intangible assets.  Goodwill was $4.8 million as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, all of which was 
related to the Company's CoreCivic Safety segment.

CoreCivic performs its impairment tests during the fourth quarter in connection with its annual budgeting process, and whenever circumstances 
indicate the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable.  Under the provisions of ASU 2017-04, CoreCivic performs a qualitative assessment 
to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting 
unit is less than its carrying amount.  If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it is more likely than not 
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the Company performs a quantitative impairment test.  If a quantitative 
test is required, CoreCivic performs an assessment to identify the existence of impairment and to measure the excess of a reporting unit's carrying 
amount over its fair value by using a combination of various common valuation techniques, including market multiples and discounted cash flows 
under valuation methodologies that include an income approach and a market approach. The income valuation approach includes certain significant 
assumptions impacting projected future cash flows, such as projected revenue, projected operating costs, and the weighted average cost of capital, 
which are affected by expectations about future market or economic conditions. These impairment tests are required to be performed at least 
annually.  
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4. REAL ESTATE TRANSACTIONS

Assets Held For Sale and Dispositions

During the third quarter of 2022, CoreCivic began marketing for sale its Roth Hall Residential Reentry Center and the Walker Hall Residential 
Reentry Center, both located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and reported in CoreCivic's Properties segment.  A purchase and sale agreement for these 
two Philadelphia properties was executed in March 2023.  The properties were sold on May 2, 2023, generating net sales proceeds of $5.8 million, 
resulting in a loss on sale of $25,000, which was reported in the second quarter of 2023.  

CoreCivic is also marketing for sale an idled residential reentry center in Denver, Colorado with a current carrying value of $1.1 million, which was 
reported in CoreCivic's Community segment and was classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2022 and March 31, 2023.  While CoreCivic is 
committed to finding alternative uses for the facility, which may include a future sale, the Company has concluded that the facility no longer meets 
the requirements to be considered as held for sale as of June 30, 2023.

On July 25, 2022, CoreCivic entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with the Georgia Building Authority for the sale of CoreCivic's McRae 
Correctional Facility located in McRae, Georgia, and reported in CoreCivic's Safety segment, for a gross sales price of $130.0 million.  The sale of 
the McRae facility was completed on August 9, 2022. The sale generated net proceeds of $129.7 million, resulting in a gain on sale of $77.5 million 
after transaction costs, which was reported in the third quarter of 2022.  CoreCivic had a management contract with the Federal Bureau of Prisons 
("BOP") at the McRae facility, which expired on November 30, 2022 and was not renewed. In connection with the sale, CoreCivic and the Georgia 
Building Authority entered into an agreement to lease the McRae Correctional Facility to CoreCivic through November 30, 2022 to allow the 
Company to fulfill its obligations to the BOP.  

In addition, during the full year 2022, CoreCivic completed the sales of an idled residential reentry center in Oklahoma and reported in CoreCivic's 
Community segment, two community corrections facilities leased to government agencies in California and reported in CoreCivic's Properties 
segment, and two undeveloped parcels of land. The sales of these five properties generated aggregate net sales proceeds of $18.1 million, resulting 
in an aggregate net gain on sale of $7.6 million after transaction costs.  Pursuant to the agreement to sell the Oklahoma property, in the third quarter 
of 2022, CoreCivic recognized an impairment charge of $3.5 million associated with the facility, based on its fair value less costs to sell.

Idle Facilities

As of June 30, 2023, CoreCivic had seven idled CoreCivic Safety correctional facilities that are currently available and being actively marketed as 
solutions to meet the needs of potential customers.  The following table summarizes each of the idled facilities and their respective carrying values, 
excluding equipment and other assets that could generally be transferred and used at other facilities CoreCivic owns without significant cost (dollars 
in thousands):
 

          Net Carrying Values  
    Design     June 30,     December 31,  

Facility   Capacity     2023     2022  

Prairie Correctional Facility     1,600     $ 13,687     $ 14,165  
Huerfano County Correctional Center     752       14,497       14,580  
Diamondback Correctional Facility     2,160       34,682       35,587  
Marion Adjustment Center     826       10,153       10,326  
Kit Carson Correctional Center     1,488       48,547       49,444  
West Tennessee Detention Facility     600       19,074       19,581  
Midwest Regional Reception Center     1,033       50,824       51,938  
      8,459     $ 191,464     $ 195,621  

 
As of June 30, 2023, CoreCivic also had one idled non-core facility in its Safety segment containing 240 beds with a net book value of $2.9 million, 
and two idled facilities in its Community segment, containing an aggregate of 450 beds with an aggregate net book value of $3.4 million.
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CoreCivic incurred operating expenses at these idled facilities of approximately $2.4 million and $2.7 million during the period they were idle 
during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $5.3 million and $4.6 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 
and 2022, respectively.  The amount for the six months ended June 30, 2022 excludes $3.5 million of operating expenses incurred at the West 
Tennessee Detention Facility and the Midwest Regional Reception Center.  The West Tennessee facility was idled upon the expiration of a USMS 
contract on September 30, 2021, and the Midwest Regional Reception Center was idled upon the expiration of a USMS contract on December 31, 
2021.  CoreCivic retained a certain staffing level at both facilities through the first three months of 2022 in order to quickly respond in the event the 
Company was able to enter into new contracts with government agencies promptly following the contract expirations.  The Company also continued 
to incur expenses related to transportation services provided by staff at the Midwest Regional Reception Center during the first three months of 
2022. 

On December 6, 2022, the Company received notice from the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation ("CDCR") of its intent to 
terminate the lease agreement for the Company's California City Correctional Center by March 31, 2024, due to the state's declining inmate 
population.  As part of its annual budget process for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, the California legislature approved funding for the lease 
through March 31, 2024.  The Company has engaged with the state of California regarding the continued utilization of the California City facility by 
the CDCR.  However, the Company can provide no assurance that it will be successful in reaching an agreement for the utilization of the facility 
beyond March 31, 2024.  The Company is also marketing the facility to other potential customers.

On April 25, 2023, the Company announced that it received notice from the Oklahoma Department of Corrections ("ODC") of its intent to terminate 
the lease agreement for the company-owned 2,400-bed North Fork Correctional Facility, reported in the Company's CoreCivic Properties segment, 
upon the lease expiration on June 30, 2023.  Upon expiration of the lease, the North Fork facility was idled in the third quarter of 2023.  The 
Company is marketing the facility to potential customers.

On June 14, 2023, the Company announced that it entered into a lease agreement with the ODC for the company-owned 1,670-bed Davis 
Correctional Facility, which the Company currently reports in its CoreCivic Safety segment and operates under a management contract with the 
ODC. The management contract was scheduled to expire on June 30, 2023.  However, effective July 1, 2023, the Company entered into a 90-day 
contract extension for the management contract, after which time, operations of the Davis facility will transfer from CoreCivic to the ODC in 
accordance with the new lease agreement.  The new lease agreement includes a base term commencing October 1, 2023, with a scheduled expiration 
date of June 30, 2029, and unlimited two-year renewal options.  Upon commencement of the new lease agreement, the Davis facility will be 
reported in the Company's CoreCivic Properties segment.

The Company estimated undiscounted cash flows for each facility with an impairment indicator, including the idle facilities described above. The 
Company's estimated undiscounted cash flows reflect the Company’s most recent expectations around potential utilization and/or sale of the 
facilities and projected cash flows based on historical cash flows, cash flows of comparable facilities, and recent contract negotiations for utilization, 
as applicable. The Company concluded that the estimated undiscounted cash flows exceeded carrying values for each facility as of June 30, 2023 
and December 31, 2022. 

CoreCivic evaluates on a quarterly basis market developments for the potential utilization of each of its idle properties in order to identify events 
that may cause CoreCivic to reconsider its assumptions with respect to the recoverability of book values as compared to undiscounted cash flows. 
CoreCivic considers the cancellation of a contract in its Safety or Community segment or an expiration and non-renewal of a lease agreement in its 
CoreCivic Properties segment as indicators of impairment and tests each of the idled properties for impairment when it is notified by the respective 
customers or tenants that they would no longer be utilizing such property. 
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5. DEBT

Debt outstanding as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following (in thousands): 
 

    June 30,     December 31,  
    2023     2022  
Revolving Credit Facility maturing May 2026. Interest payable 
    periodically at variable interest rates.   $ —     $ —  
Term Loan A maturing May 2026.  Interest payable periodically 
    at variable interest rates. The rate at June 30, 2023 and 
    December 31, 2022 was 8.4% and 7.5%, respectively.  Unamortized
    debt issuance costs amounted to $1.2 million and $1.4 million at 
    June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.     93,125       96,250  
4.625% Senior Notes.  The 4.625% Senior Notes were redeemed
   on February 1, 2023, as further described below.     —       153,754  
4.75% Senior Notes maturing October 2027.  Unamortized debt
    issuance costs amounted to $1.7 million and $1.9 million at 
    June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.     250,000       250,000  
8.25% Senior Notes maturing April 2026.  Unamortized debt
    issuance costs amounted to $7.1 million and $8.7 million at
    June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.     593,113       614,113  
4.43% Lansing Correctional Facility Non-Recourse Mortgage Note
    maturing January 2040.  Unamortized debt issuance costs 
    amounted to $2.7 million and $2.8 million at June 30, 2023 and
    December 31, 2022, respectively.     148,012       150,405  
Total debt     1,084,250       1,264,522  
Unamortized debt issuance costs     (12,720 )     (14,763 )
Net unamortized original issue premium     529       624  
Current portion of long-term debt     (13,243 )     (165,525 )
Long-term debt, net   $ 1,058,816     $ 1,084,858  

 
Bank Credit Facility.  On May 12, 2022, CoreCivic entered into a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (referred to herein as the "Bank 
Credit Facility") in an aggregate principal amount of $350.0 million, consisting of a $100.0 million term loan (the "Term Loan A") and a revolving 
credit facility with a borrowing capacity of $250.0 million (the "Revolving Credit Facility").  The Bank Credit Facility has a maturity of May 2026.  
The Bank Credit Facility includes an option to increase the availability under the Revolving Credit Facility and to request term loans from the 
lenders in an aggregate amount not to exceed the greater of (a) $200.0 million and (b) 50% of consolidated EBITDA for the most recently ended 
four-quarter period, subject to, among other things, the receipt of commitments for the increased amount. At CoreCivic's option, interest on 
outstanding borrowings under the Bank Credit Facility is based on either a base rate plus a margin ranging from 1.75% to 3.5%, or at the Bloomberg 
Short-Term Bank Yield Index ("BSBY") rate plus a margin ranging from 2.75% to 4.5% based on the Company’s then-current total leverage ratio.  
The Revolving Credit Facility includes a $25.0 million sublimit for swing line loans that enables CoreCivic to borrow at the base rate from the 
Administrative Agent on same-day notice. 

Based on CoreCivic's total leverage ratio during the six months ended June 30, 2023, loans under the Bank Credit Facility bore interest at a base rate 
plus a margin of 2.25% or at the BSBY rate plus a margin of 3.25%, and a commitment fee equal to 0.45% of the unfunded balance of the Revolving 
Credit Facility.  The Revolving Credit Facility also has a $100.0 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit. As of June 30, 2023, 
CoreCivic had no borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.  As of June 30, 2023, CoreCivic had $17.4 million in letters of credit 
outstanding resulting in $232.6 million available under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Term Loan A requires scheduled quarterly principal 
payments through December 2025, and is pre-payable without penalty.  As of June 30, 2023, the outstanding balance of the Term Loan A was $93.1 
million.  
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The Bank Credit Facility requires CoreCivic to meet certain financial covenants, including, without limitation, a total leverage ratio of not more than 
4.50 to 1.00 for which the Company may net unrestricted cash and cash equivalents not exceeding $100.0 million when calculating, a secured 
leverage ratio of not more than 2.50 to 1.00 for which the Company may net unrestricted cash and cash equivalents not exceeding $100.0 million 
when calculating, and a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.75 to 1.00.  As of June 30, 2023, CoreCivic was in compliance with all such 
covenants. The Bank Credit Facility is secured by a pledge of all of the capital stock (or other ownership interests) of CoreCivic's domestic restricted 
subsidiaries, 65% of the capital stock (or other ownership interests) of CoreCivic's "first-tier" foreign subsidiaries, all of the accounts receivable of 
the Company and its domestic restricted subsidiaries, and substantially all of the deposit accounts of the Company and its domestic restricted 
subsidiaries. In the event that (a) the consolidated total leverage equals or exceeds 4.00 to 1.00 or (b) the Company incurs certain debt above a 
specified threshold, certain intangible assets and unencumbered real estate assets that meet a 50% loan-to-value requirement are required to be 
added as collateral. In addition, the Bank Credit Facility contains certain covenants that, among other things, limit the incurrence of additional 
indebtedness, payment of dividends and other customary restricted payments, permitted investments, transactions with affiliates, asset sales, mergers 
and consolidations, liquidations, prepayments and modifications of other indebtedness, liens and other encumbrances and other matters customarily 
restricted in such agreements.  The Bank Credit Facility is subject to certain cross-default provisions with terms of CoreCivic's other unsecured 
indebtedness and is subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of a change of control. 

Senior Notes.  Interest on the $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of CoreCivic's 4.75% senior notes issued in October 2017 (the "4.75% 
Senior Notes") accrues at the stated rate and is payable in April and October of each year. The 4.75% Senior Notes are scheduled to mature on 
October 15, 2027. Interest on the $593.1 million remaining aggregate principal amount of CoreCivic's 8.25% senior notes issued in April and 
September 2021 with an original principal amount of $675.0 million (the "8.25% Senior Notes") accrues at the stated rate and is payable in April 
and October of each year. The 8.25% Senior Notes are scheduled to mature on April 15, 2026.  During 2022, the Company purchased $60.9 million 
principal amount of the 8.25% Senior Notes at a weighted average purchase price approximately equal to par through open market purchases. 
CoreCivic recorded charges of $1.2 million during 2022 primarily for the write-off of a pro-rata portion of the pre-existing loan costs associated 
with these open market purchases.  In the second quarter of 2023, the Company purchased $21.0 million principal amount of the 8.25% Senior 
Notes at a weighted average purchase price approximately equal to par through open market purchases, reducing the outstanding balance of the 
8.25% Senior Notes to $593.1 million as of June 30, 2023.  CoreCivic recorded a charge of $0.2 million during the second quarter of 2023 primarily 
for the write-off of a pro-rata portion of the pre-existing loan costs associated with these open market purchases.

The 4.75% Senior Notes and the 8.25% Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and are guaranteed by all of the Company's 
existing and future subsidiaries that guarantee the Bank Credit Facility.  CoreCivic may redeem all or part of the 4.75% Senior Notes at any time 
prior to three months before their maturity date at a "make-whole" redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, 
the redemption date. Thereafter, the 4.75% Senior Notes are redeemable at CoreCivic's option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 
100% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the redemption 
date.   The Company may redeem all or part of the 8.25% Senior Notes at any time prior to April 15, 2024, in whole or in part, at a "make-whole" 
redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the redemption date. Thereafter, the 8.25% Senior Notes are 
redeemable at CoreCivic's option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price expressed as a percentage of the principal amount thereof, which 
percentage is 104.125% beginning on April 15, 2024 and 100% beginning on April 15, 2025, plus, in each such case, accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon to, but not including, the redemption date. 

On December 22, 2022, CoreCivic delivered an irrevocable notice to the holders of CoreCivic's 4.625% senior notes issued in April 2013 with an 
original principal amount of $350.0 million (the "4.625% Senior Notes") that the Company elected to redeem in full the 4.625% Senior Notes that 
remained outstanding on February 1, 2023. During 2021 and 2022, CoreCivic purchased $196.2 million of the 4.625% Senior Notes through 
privately negotiated transactions and open market purchases.  The remaining 4.625% Senior Notes were redeemed on February 1, 2023 at a 
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the outstanding 4.625% Senior Notes, which amounted to $153.8 million, plus accrued 
and unpaid interest to, but not including, the redemption date. The Company used a combination of cash on hand and available capacity under its 
Revolving Credit Facility to fund the redemption.
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Lansing Correctional Facility Non-Recourse Mortgage Note.  On April 20, 2018, CoreCivic of Kansas, LLC (the "Issuer"), a wholly-owned 
unrestricted subsidiary of the Company, priced $159.5 million in aggregate principal amount of non-recourse senior secured notes of the Issuer (the 
"Kansas Notes"), in a private placement pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  The Kansas Notes have a yield to 
maturity of 4.43% and are scheduled to mature in January 2040, 20 years following completion of the project, which occurred in January 2020. 
Principal and interest on the Kansas Notes are payable in quarterly payments, which began in July 2020 and continue until maturity. CoreCivic may 
redeem all or part of the Kansas Notes at any time upon written notice of not less than 30 days and not more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for 
such prepayment, with a "make-whole" amount, together with interest on the Kansas Notes accrued to, but not including, the redemption date.  
Because the Issuer has been designated as an unrestricted subsidiary of the Company under terms of the Company's Bank Credit Facility, the 
issuance and service of the Kansas Notes, and the revenues and expenses associated with the facility lease, do not impact the financial covenants 
associated with the Company's Bank Credit Facility.  As of June 30, 2023, the outstanding balance of the Kansas Notes was $148.0 million.

 

Debt Maturities.  Scheduled principal payments as of June 30, 2023 for the remainder of 2023, the next five years, and thereafter were as follows (in 
thousands):

 
2023 (remainder)   $ 6,253  
2024     14,722  
2025     17,698  
2026     667,563  
2027     256,855  
2028     7,370  
Thereafter     113,789  
Total debt   $ 1,084,250  

 

6. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

Share Repurchase Program

On May 12, 2022, the Board of Directors ("BOD") approved a share repurchase program to repurchase up to $150.0 million of the Company's 
common stock.  On August 2, 2022, the BOD increased the authorization to repurchase under the share repurchase program by up to an additional 
$75.0 million of the Company's common stock, or a total aggregate authorized amount to repurchase up to $225.0 million of the Company's 
common stock.  Repurchases of the Company's outstanding common stock will be made in accordance with applicable securities laws and may be 
made at the Company's discretion based on parameters set by the BOD from time to time in the open market, through privately negotiated 
transactions, or otherwise. The share repurchase program has no time limit and does not obligate the Company to purchase any particular amount of 
its common stock.  The authorization for the share repurchase program may be terminated, suspended, increased or decreased by the BOD in its 
discretion at any time. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the Company completed the 
repurchase of 2.6 million and 6.6 million shares, respectively, at a total cost of $25.6 million and $74.5 million, respectively, excluding costs 
associated with the share repurchase program. The Company has utilized cash on hand and net cash provided by operations to fund the repurchases.

Restricted Stock Units

During the first six months of 2023, CoreCivic issued approximately 2.0 million restricted common stock units ("RSUs") to certain of its employees 
and non-employee directors, with an aggregate value of $22.3 million, including 1.8 million RSUs to employees and non-employee directors whose 
compensation is charged to general and administrative expense and 0.2 million RSUs to employees whose compensation is charged to operating 
expense. During 2022, CoreCivic issued approximately 2.1 million RSUs to certain of its employees and non-employee directors, with an aggregate 
value of $21.5 million, including 1.9 million RSUs to employees and non-employee directors whose compensation is charged to general and 
administrative expense and 0.2 million RSUs to employees whose compensation is charged to operating expense. 
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CoreCivic has established performance-based vesting conditions on a portion of the RSUs awarded to its officers and executive officers that, unless 
earlier vested under the terms of the agreements, are subject to vesting over a three-year period based upon the satisfaction of certain annual 
performance criteria.  The RSUs awarded to officers and executive officers in 2021, 2022 and 2023 consist of a combination of awards with 
performance-based conditions and time-based conditions.  Unless earlier vested under the terms of the RSU agreements, the RSUs with time-based 
vesting conditions vest in equal amounts over three years on the later of (i) the anniversary date of the grant or (ii) the delivery of the audited 
financial statements by the Company's independent registered public accountant for the applicable fiscal year.  The RSUs with performance-based 
vesting conditions are divided into one-third increments, each of which is subject to vesting based upon satisfaction of certain annual performance 
criteria established at the beginning of the fiscal years ending December 31, 2021, 2022, and 2023 for the 2021 awards, December 31, 2022, 2023, 
and 2024 for the 2022 awards, and December 31, 2023, 2024, and 2025 for the 2023 awards, and which can be increased up to 150% or decreased to 
0% based on performance relative to the annual performance criteria, and further increased or decreased using a modifier of 80% to 120% based on 
CoreCivic's total shareholder return relative to a peer group.  Because the performance criteria for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2024 and 
2025 have not yet been established, the values of the third RSU increment of the 2022 awards and of the second and third increments of the 2023 
awards for financial reporting purposes will not be determined until such criteria are established.  Time-based RSUs issued to other employees, 
unless earlier vested under the terms of the agreements, generally vest in equal amounts over three years on the later of (i) the anniversary date of 
the grant or (ii) the delivery of the audited financial statements by the Company's independent registered public accountant for the applicable fiscal 
year. RSUs issued to non-employee directors generally vest one year from the date of award.  As of June 30, 2023, approximately 3.9 million RSUs 
remained outstanding and subject to vesting.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, CoreCivic expensed $5.3 million, net of forfeitures, relating to RSUs ($0.4 million of which was 
recorded in operating expenses and $4.9 million of which was recorded in general and administrative expenses). During the three months ended 
June 30, 2022, CoreCivic expensed $4.5 million, net of forfeitures, relating to RSUs ($0.4 million of which was recorded in operating expenses and 
$4.1 million of which was recorded in general and administrative expenses).

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, CoreCivic expensed $10.2 million, net of forfeitures, relating to RSUs ($0.9 million of which was 
recorded in operating expenses and $9.3 million of which was recorded in general and administrative expenses). During the six months ended June 
30, 2022, CoreCivic expensed $9.7 million, net of forfeitures, relating to RSUs ($0.8 million of which was recorded in operating expenses and $8.9 
million of which was recorded in general and administrative expenses). 

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.  
Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or 
converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the entity.  For CoreCivic, diluted 
earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares after considering the additional dilution 
related to restricted stock-based awards and stock options.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic earnings per share computation to the numerator and denominator of the diluted 
earnings per share computation is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

NUMERATOR                        
Basic:                        

Net income   $ 14,830     $ 10,562     $ 27,230     $ 29,565  
Diluted:                        

Net income   $ 14,830     $ 10,562     $ 27,230     $ 29,565  
DENOMINATOR                        
Basic:                        

Weighted average common shares outstanding     113,628       120,529       113,840       120,662  
Diluted:                        

Weighted average common shares outstanding     113,628       120,529       113,840       120,662  
Effect of dilutive securities:                        

Restricted stock-based awards     324       817       631       721  
Weighted average shares and assumed conversions     113,952       121,346       114,471       121,383  

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE   $ 0.13     $ 0.09     $ 0.24     $ 0.25  
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE   $ 0.13     $ 0.09     $ 0.24     $ 0.24  

 
Approximately 16,000 and 0.1 million stock options were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2022, respectively, because they were anti-dilutive.

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings

The nature of CoreCivic's business results in claims and litigation alleging that it is liable for damages arising from the conduct of its employees, 
offenders or others.  The nature of such claims includes, but is not limited to, claims arising from employee or offender misconduct, medical 
malpractice, employment matters, property loss, contractual claims, including claims regarding compliance with contract performance requirements, 
and personal injury or other damages resulting from contact with CoreCivic's facilities, personnel or offenders, including damages arising from an 
offender's escape or from a disturbance at a facility.  CoreCivic maintains insurance to cover many of these claims, which may mitigate the risk that 
any single claim would have a material effect on CoreCivic's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows, provided the claim 
is one for which coverage is available.  The combination of self-insured retentions and deductible amounts means that, in the aggregate, CoreCivic 
is subject to substantial self-insurance risk.  

Based upon management's review of the potential claims and outstanding litigation, and based upon management's experience and history of 
estimating losses, and taking into consideration CoreCivic's self-insured retention amounts, management believes a loss in excess of amounts 
already recognized would not be material to CoreCivic's financial statements.  Adversarial proceedings and litigation are, however, subject to 
inherent uncertainties, and unfavorable decisions and rulings resulting from legal proceedings could occur which could have a material impact on 
CoreCivic's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows for the period in which such decisions or rulings occur, or future 
periods.  Expenses associated with legal proceedings may also fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on changes in CoreCivic's assumptions, new 
developments, or by the effectiveness of CoreCivic's litigation and settlement strategies.  

CoreCivic records a liability in the consolidated financial statements for loss contingencies when a loss is known or considered probable, and the 
amount can be reasonably estimated.  If the reasonable estimate of a known or probable loss is a range, and no amount within the range is a better 
estimate than any other, the minimum amount of the range is accrued.  If a loss is reasonably possible but not known or probable, and can be 
reasonably estimated, the estimated loss or range of loss is disclosed.  When determining the estimated loss or range of loss, significant judgment is 
required to estimate the amount and timing of a loss to be recorded.  Any receivable for insurance recoveries is recorded separately from the 
corresponding litigation reserve, and only if recovery is determined to be probable and the amount of payment can be determined. CoreCivic does 
not accrue for anticipated legal fees and costs and expenses those items as incurred.  
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ICE Detainee Labor and Related Matters.

On May 31, 2017, two former ICE detainees, who were detained at the Company's Otay Mesa Detention Center ("OMDC") in San Diego, 
California, filed a class action lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. The complaint 
alleged that the Company forces detainees to perform labor under threat of punishment in violation of state and federal anti-trafficking laws and that 
OMDC's Voluntary Work Program ("VWP") violates state labor laws including state minimum wage law. ICE requires that CoreCivic offer and 
operate the VWP in conformance with ICE standards and ICE prescribes the minimum rate of pay for VWP participants. The Plaintiffs seek 
compensatory damages, exemplary damages, restitution, penalties, and interest as well as declaratory and injunctive relief on behalf of former and 
current detainees. On April 1, 2020, the district court certified a nationwide anti-trafficking claims class of former and current detainees who 
participated in an ICE VWP at a CoreCivic facility. It also certified a state law class of former and current detainees who participated in a VWP 
wherever the Company held ICE detainees in California. The court did not certify any claims for injunctive or declaratory relief. On March 10, 
2021, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals granted CoreCivic's petition to appeal the class certification ruling.  On June 3, 2022, a three-judge panel 
of the Ninth Circuit affirmed the class certification ruling.  Following the three-judge panel affirmance, the Company petitioned the Ninth Circuit for 
a discretionary appellate review, which was denied.  On January 3, 2023, the Ninth Circuit Court granted the Company's motion to stay its mandate 
during the pendency of the Company's petition for Supreme Court review.  On June 12, 2023, the Supreme Court dismissed the Company's petition.  
The claims resulting in certified classes will now proceed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. 

Since this case was filed, four similar lawsuits have been filed. A second California lawsuit concerning the Otay Mesa facility has been stayed 
pending the outcome of class proceedings in the first California case discussed above. A Maryland case was dismissed on September 27, 2019, and 
the dismissal was affirmed on appeal. Two suits filed in Georgia and Texas do not allege minimum wage violations. The Texas case was voluntarily 
dismissed on March 14, 2022. The Georgia case was appealed to the Eleventh Circuit following the District Court's decision not to certify any 
classes, and the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the District Court's ruling on May 31, 2023. The Company disputes these allegations and intends to take 
all necessary steps to vigorously defend itself against all claims.

Due to the stage of these proceedings, the Company cannot reasonably predict the outcomes, nor can it estimate the amount of loss or range of loss, 
if any, that may result.  As a result, the Company has not recorded an accrual relating to these matters at this time, as losses are not considered 
probable or reasonably estimable at this stage of these lawsuits.

9. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the provisions of ASC 740, "Income Taxes". ASC 740 generally requires CoreCivic to record deferred income 
taxes for the tax effect of differences between book and tax bases of its assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes reflect the available net 
operating losses and the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to 
reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the statement of operations in the period that 
includes the enactment date.  Realization of the future tax benefits related to deferred tax assets is dependent on many factors, including CoreCivic's 
past earnings history, expected future earnings, the character and jurisdiction of such earnings, unsettled circumstances that, if unfavorably resolved, 
would adversely affect utilization of its deferred tax assets, carryback and carryforward periods, and tax strategies that could potentially enhance the 
likelihood of realization of a deferred tax asset.  CoreCivic recorded an income tax expense of $4.2 million and $4.0 million for the three months 
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  CoreCivic recorded an income tax expense of $12.3 million and $10.6 million for the six months ended 
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  The difference between the Company's effective tax rate and the U.S. statutory federal tax rate of 21% is 
primarily due to the impact of state income taxes.  The effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2023 is higher than the same period in the 
prior year due to the revaluation of net deferred tax liabilities associated with a change in the Company's corporate tax structure. 

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the "Inflation Reduction Act") was signed into law on August 16, 2022. Among other provisions, such act 
creates an excise tax of 1% on the fair value of net stock repurchases in excess of share issuances made by publicly traded U.S. corporations, 
effective for repurchases after December 31, 2022. The impact of this excise tax on the Company’s financial position, and/or liquidity, in future 
periods, will vary based on the level of net stock repurchases in excess of share issuances made by the Company in a given year.  The Company has 
concluded that the excise tax associated with stock repurchases is properly recognized as a component of equity given that it is a direct cost 
associated with the repurchase of common stock.  The excise tax recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2023 was estimated to be $0.1 
million associated with the repurchase of 2.6 million shares, net of the shares issued for restricted stock plans as permitted by the issuance offset rule 
under the Inflation Reduction Act.
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Income Tax Contingencies

ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position 
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The guidance prescribed in ASC 740 establishes a recognition threshold of more likely than not that a 
tax position will be sustained upon examination.  The measurement attribute requires that a tax position be measured at the largest amount of benefit 
that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

CoreCivic had no liabilities recorded for uncertain tax positions as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.  CoreCivic recognizes interest and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax positions in income tax expense. CoreCivic does not currently anticipate that the total amount of unrecognized 
tax positions will significantly change in the next twelve months.  

10. SEGMENT REPORTING

As of June 30, 2023, CoreCivic operated 44 correctional and detention facilities, 40 of which the Company owned.  In addition, CoreCivic owned 
and operated 23 residential reentry centers and owned 6 properties leased to government agencies.  Management views CoreCivic's operating results 
in three operating segments, CoreCivic Safety, CoreCivic Community, and CoreCivic Properties.  CoreCivic Safety includes the operating results of 
those correctional and detention facilities placed into service that were owned, or controlled via a long-term lease, and managed by CoreCivic, as 
well as those correctional and detention facilities owned by a third party and managed by CoreCivic.  CoreCivic Safety also includes the operating 
results of TransCor America, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company that provides transportation services to governmental agencies.  CoreCivic 
Community includes the operating results of those residential reentry centers placed into service that were owned, or controlled via a long-term 
lease, and managed by CoreCivic.  CoreCivic Community also includes the operating results of the Company's electronic monitoring and case 
management services. CoreCivic Properties includes the operating results of those properties leased to government agencies. The operating 
performance of the three segments can be measured based on their net operating income.  CoreCivic defines facility net operating income as a 
facility's revenues less operating expenses.  
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The revenue and facility net operating income for each of the three segments and a reconciliation to CoreCivic's income before income taxes is as 
follows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Revenue:                        
Safety   $ 421,743     $ 416,354     $ 839,393     $ 830,602  
Community     28,364       25,775       54,778       49,890  
Properties     13,574       14,526       27,411       29,117  

Total segment revenue     463,681       456,655       921,582       909,609  
Operating expenses:                        

Safety     335,726       324,261       664,124       645,282  
Community     22,905       21,282       45,620       41,509  
Properties     3,324       3,377       6,685       6,659  

Total segment operating expenses     361,955       348,920       716,429       693,450  
Facility net operating income:                        

Safety     86,017       92,093       175,269       185,320  
Community     5,459       4,493       9,158       8,381  
Properties     10,250       11,149       20,726       22,458  

Total facility net operating income     101,726       107,735       205,153       216,159  
Other revenue (expense):                        

Other revenue     1       42       102       76  
Other operating expense     (53 )     (80 )     (116 )     (179 )
General and administrative     (32,612 )     (31,513 )     (65,291 )     (62,614 )
Depreciation and amortization     (31,615 )     (32,259 )     (62,657 )     (64,287 )
Shareholder litigation expense     —       (1,900 )     —       (1,900 )
Interest expense, net     (18,268 )     (21,668 )     (37,419 )     (44,588 )
Expenses associated with debt repayments
       and refinancing transactions     (226 )     (6,805 )     (226 )     (6,805 )
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate assets, net     (25 )     1,060       (25 )     3,321  
Other income (expense)     78       (37 )     31       1,005  

 Income before income taxes   $ 19,006     $ 14,575     $ 39,552     $ 40,188  

The following table summarizes capital expenditures including accrued amounts for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in 
thousands):

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Capital expenditures:                        
Safety   $ 13,993     $ 15,419     $ 17,562     $ 29,746  
Community     226       408       640       680  
Properties     495       1,194       543       1,194  
Corporate and other     1,741       1,457       3,933       2,473  

Total capital expenditures   $ 16,455     $ 18,478     $ 22,678     $ 34,093  

The total assets are as follows (in thousands):
    June 30, 2023     December 31, 2022  

Assets:            
     Safety   $ 2,331,489     $ 2,433,126  
     Community     217,891       216,303  
     Properties     349,769       362,908  
     Corporate and other     128,632       232,432  

Total assets   $ 3,027,781     $ 3,244,769  
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 
10-Q, or Quarterly Report.  In this Quarterly Report we use the terms, the "Company," "CoreCivic," "we," "us," and "our" to refer to CoreCivic, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries unless context indicates otherwise.  

This Quarterly Report contains statements as to our beliefs and expectations of the outcome of future events that are forward-looking statements as defined 
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended.  All statements other than statements of current or historical fact 
contained herein, including statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans, and objectives of 
management for future operations, are forward-looking statements.  The words "anticipate," "believe," "continue," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intend," 
"may," "plan," "projects," "will," and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  These forward-looking 
statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the statements made.  These include, but are not 
limited to, the risks and uncertainties associated with:

• changes in government policy, legislation and regulations that affect utilization of the private sector for corrections, detention, and residential 
reentry services, in general, or our business, in particular, including, but not limited to, the continued utilization of our correctional and 
detention facilities by the federal government, including as a consequence of the United States Department of Justice, or DOJ, not renewing 
contracts as a result of President Biden's Executive Order on Reforming Our Incarceration System to Eliminate the Use of Privately Operated 
Criminal Detention Facilities, or the Private Prison EO, impacting utilization primarily by the United States Federal Bureau of Prisons, or 
BOP, and the United States Marshals Service, or USMS, and the impact of any changes to immigration reform and sentencing laws (we do 
not, under longstanding policy, lobby for or against policies or legislation that would determine the basis for, or duration of, an individual's 
incarceration or detention); 

• our ability to obtain and maintain correctional, detention, and residential reentry facility management contracts because of reasons including, 
but not limited to, sufficient governmental appropriations, contract compliance, negative publicity and effects of inmate disturbances;

• changes in the privatization of the corrections and detention industry, the acceptance of our services, the timing of the opening of new 
facilities and the commencement of new management contracts (including the extent and pace at which new contracts are utilized), as well as 
our ability to utilize available beds;

• general economic and market conditions, including, but not limited to, the impact governmental budgets can have on our contract renewals 
and renegotiations, per diem rates, and occupancy;

• fluctuations in our operating results because of, among other things, changes in occupancy levels; competition; contract renegotiations or 
terminations; inflation and other increases in costs of operations, including a continuing rise in labor costs; fluctuations in interest rates and 
risks of operations;

• the impact resulting from the termination of Title 42, the federal government's policy to deny entry at the United States southern border to 
asylum-seekers and anyone crossing the southern border without proper documentation or authority in an effort to contain the spread of the 
coronavirus and related variants, or COVID-19;

• our ability to successfully identify and consummate future development and acquisition opportunities and realize projected returns resulting 
therefrom;

• our ability to have met and maintained qualification for taxation as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for the years we elected REIT 
status; and

• the availability of debt and equity financing on terms that are favorable to us, or at all.

Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report may turn out to be inaccurate. We have based these forward-looking statements 
largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of 
operations, business strategy, and financial needs.  Our statements can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown 
risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including the risks, uncertainties, and assumptions described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 (including those risks and uncertainties described under Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, or the SEC, on February 21, 2023, or the 2022 Form 10-K, and in other reports, documents, and other information we file with the SEC from 
time to time.  Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof.  New risks 
and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect us. We undertake no obligation to 
publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report, except as may be required by 
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law. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by 
the cautionary statements.

OVERVIEW

The Company

We are a diversified government solutions company with the scale and experience needed to solve tough government challenges in flexible, cost-effective 
ways.  Through three segments, CoreCivic Safety, CoreCivic Community, and CoreCivic Properties, we provide a broad range of solutions to government 
partners that serve the public good through corrections and detention management, a network of residential reentry centers to help address America's 
recidivism crisis, and government real estate solutions.  We have been a flexible and dependable partner for government for 40 years. Our employees are 
driven by a deep sense of service, high standards of professionalism and a responsibility to help government better the public good.

We are the nation's largest owner of partnership correctional, detention, and residential reentry facilities and one of the largest prison operators in the 
United States.  As of June 30, 2023, through our CoreCivic Safety segment, we operated 44 correctional and detention facilities, 40 of which we owned, 
with a total design capacity of approximately 66,000 beds. Through our CoreCivic Community segment, we owned and operated 23 residential reentry 
centers with a total design capacity of approximately 5,000 beds.  In addition, through our CoreCivic Properties segment, we owned 6 properties, with a 
total design capacity of approximately 9,000 beds, leased to government agencies.  

In addition to providing fundamental residential services, our correctional, detention, and residential reentry facilities offer a variety of rehabilitation and 
educational programs, including basic education, faith-based services, life skills and employment training, and substance abuse treatment.  These services 
are intended to help reduce recidivism and to prepare offenders for their successful reentry into society upon their release.  We also provide or make 
available to offenders certain health care (including medical, dental, and mental health services), food services, and work and recreational programs. 

We are a Maryland corporation formed in 1983. Our principal executive offices are located at 5501 Virginia Way, Brentwood, Tennessee, 37027, and our 
telephone number at that location is (615) 263-3000.  Our website address is www.corecivic.com.  We make our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly 
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, definitive proxy statements, and amendments to those reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, available on our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are filed with or 
furnished to the SEC. Information contained on our website is not part of this Quarterly Report. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy 
and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at the following address: www.sec.gov.     

On January 26, 2021, President Biden issued the Executive Order on Reforming Our Incarceration System to Eliminate the Use of Privately Operated 
Criminal Detention Facilities, or the Private Prison EO. The Private Prison EO directs the Attorney General to not renew DOJ contracts with privately 
operated criminal detention facilities.  Two agencies of the DOJ, the BOP and the USMS, utilize our services.  The BOP houses inmates who have been 
convicted, and the USMS is generally responsible for detainees who are awaiting trial. The BOP has experienced a steady decline in inmate populations 
over the last decade, a trend that was accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Our remaining prison contract with the BOP at the 1,978-bed McRae 
Correctional Facility expired on November 30, 2022 and was not renewed.  This contract accounted for 2% ($37.8 million) of our total revenue for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2022. We completed the sale of the McRae facility in August 2022 to the Georgia Building Authority, and entered into 
an agreement to lease the facility through November 2022 to allow us to fulfill our obligations to the BOP. The Private Prison EO only applies to agencies 
that are part of the DOJ, which includes the BOP and USMS. U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, or ICE, facilities are not covered by the Private 
Prison EO, as ICE is an agency of the Department of Homeland Security, or DHS, not the DOJ.  For the six months ended June 30, 2023, USMS and ICE 
accounted for 22% ($198.7 million) and 29% ($267.4 million), respectively, of our total revenue. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, USMS 
and ICE accounted for 22% ($403.9 million) and 29% ($527.3 million), respectively, of our total revenue.

Unlike the BOP, the USMS does not own detention capacity and relies on the private sector, along with various government agencies, for its detainee 
population. The USMS has been advised by the Office of the Deputy Attorney General not to renew existing contracts, or enter into new contracts for 
private detention facilities.  We currently have two detention facilities that have direct contracts with the USMS that expire in September 2023 and 
September 2025.  The facility with the contract expiring in September 2023 services a substantial number of USMS detainees that we believe will be 
challenging to replace, and we intend to work with the USMS to enable it to continue to fulfill its mission. However, we can provide no assurance that this 
contract will be renewed or replaced upon expiration.  It is too early to predict the outcome of the expiration of the contract scheduled to expire in 
September 2025, and future developments could occur prior to the scheduled expiration date.  
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In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic.  As a result, in the first quarter of 2020, the federal 
government decided to deny entry at the United States southern border to asylum-seekers and anyone crossing the southern border without proper 
documentation or authority in an effort to contain the spread of COVID-19, a policy known as Title 42. This policy resulted in a reduction to the number of 
people ICE detained, including in our detention facilities.  Based on COVID-19 trends, the Department of Health and Human Services allowed Title 42 to 
expire on May 11, 2023, which has resulted in an increase in the number of undocumented people permitted to enter the United States claiming asylum, 
and has resulted in an increase in the number of people apprehended and detained by ICE.

We believe the long-term growth opportunities of our business remain attractive as government agencies consider their emergent needs, as well as the 
efficiency and offender programming opportunities we provide as flexible solutions to satisfy our partners' needs. We have also been in discussions with 
several state and county government partners that have experienced challenges in staffing their public-sector facilities and are seeking solutions from the 
private sector. Further, although disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic, several of our existing government partners, as well as prospective government 
partners, have been experiencing growth in offender populations and overcrowded conditions, as well as an increase in violent crime. Governments are 
continuing to assess their need for correctional space, and several are continuing to consider alternative correctional capacity for their aged or inefficient 
infrastructure, or are seeking cost savings by utilizing the private sector, which could result in increased future demand for the solutions we provide. For 
example, in December 2021, the state of Arizona awarded us a new contract for up to 2,706 inmates at our 3,060-bed La Palma Correctional Center in 
Arizona, which commenced in April 2022.  We are not aware of a larger prison contract awarded to the private sector by any state in over a decade.  In 
August 2022, we completed the sale of the 1,978-bed McRae Correctional Facility to the Georgia Building Authority in order to update its aged and 
inefficient public sector correctional infrastructure. We had a management contract with the BOP at this facility, which expired on November 30, 2022. In 
connection with the sale, we entered into an agreement to lease the McRae facility from the Georgia Building Authority through November 30, 2022 to 
allow us to fulfill our obligations to the BOP. The BOP transferred the BOP inmates to alternative federal capacity prior to expiration of the contract, and 
the McRae Correctional Facility converted to a facility owned and operated by the State of Georgia upon the termination of our lease with the Georgia 
Building Authority.  Competing budget priorities often impede our customers' ability to construct new prison beds of their own or update their older 
facilities, which we believe could result in further demand for private sector prison capacity solutions in the long-term. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP.  As 
such, we are required to make certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon the information available which, by 
their nature, are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty.  These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the 
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  There can be no assurance that 
actual results will not differ from our estimates.  A summary of our significant accounting policies is described in our 2022 Form 10-K.  The significant 
accounting policies and estimates which we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include 
those related to idle facilities and asset impairments, self-funded insurance reserves, and legal reserves.  For a discussion of our critical accounting policies 
and estimates, please refer to Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements" presented in our 2022 Form 10-K.  There were no newly identified critical accounting policies during the first six 
months of 2023, nor were there any material changes to the critical accounting policies and estimates discussed in our 2022 Form 10-K.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our results of operations are impacted by the number of correctional and detention facilities we operated, including 40 we owned and four owned by our 
government partners (CoreCivic Safety), the number of residential reentry centers we owned and operated (CoreCivic Community), the number of facilities 
we leased to government agencies (CoreCivic Properties), and the facilities we owned that were not in operation.  The following table sets forth the 
changes in the number of facilities in operation for the periods presented: 
 

    Effective   CoreCivic        
    Date   Safety     Community     Properties     Total  

Facilities as of December 31, 2021         46       26       10       82  
Expiration of a managed-only contract in Indiana   January 2022     (1 )     —       —       (1 )
Sale of a residential reentry facility in Colorado   February 2022     —       (1 )     —       (1 )
Sale of a residential reentry facility in Colorado   March 2022     —       (1 )     —       (1 )
Sale of two leased community corrections facilities
    in California   July 2022     —       —       (2 )     (2 )
Sale and subsequent termination of the contract and 
    lease of the McRae Correctional Facility in Georgia   Aug/Nov 2022     (1 )     —       —       (1 )
Sale of an idled residential reentry facility in
     Oklahoma   December 2022     —       (1 )     —       (1 )
Facilities as of December 31, 2022         44       23       8       75  
Sale of two leased community corrections facilities
    in Pennsylvania   May 2023     —       —       (2 )     (2 )

Facilities as of June 30, 2023         44       23       6       73  
 

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 Compared to the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2022

Net income was $14.8 million, or $0.13 per diluted share, for the three months ended June 30, 2023, compared with net income of $10.6 million, or $0.09 
per diluted share, for the three months ended June 30, 2022.   Net income was $27.2 million, or $0.24 per diluted share, for the six months ended June 30, 
2023, compared with net income of $29.6 million, or $0.24 per diluted share, for the six months ended June 30, 2022.  Financial results for the three 
months ended June 30, 2023 reflected $0.2 million of expenses associated with debt repayments and refinancing transactions.  Financial results for the 
three months ended June 30, 2022 reflected a $1.1 million gain on the sale of real estate assets, $6.8 million of expenses associated with debt repayments 
and refinancing transactions, and $1.9 million associated with shareholder litigation expense.  In addition to these items, financial results for the six months 
ended June 30, 2022 reflected a $3.3 million gain on the sale of real estate assets. Collectively, these special items were partially offset by an income tax 
benefit of $1.5 million and $2.0 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, associated with these special items and a 
change in our corporate tax structure in 2023.  For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, income tax expense reflects a net charge of $0.9 million 
and a net benefit of $1.4 million, respectively, for the change in corporate tax structure and the aforementioned special items.  
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Our Current Operations

Our ongoing operations are organized into three principal business segments:

• CoreCivic Safety segment, consisting of the 44 correctional and detention facilities that are owned, or controlled via a long-term lease, and 
managed by CoreCivic, as well as those correctional and detention facilities owned by third parties but managed by CoreCivic. CoreCivic 
Safety also includes the operating results of our subsidiary that provides transportation services to governmental agencies, TransCor America, 
LLC, or TransCor.

• CoreCivic Community segment, consisting of the 23 residential reentry centers that are owned, or controlled via a long-term lease, and managed 
by CoreCivic. CoreCivic Community also includes the operating results of our electronic monitoring and case management service.

• CoreCivic Properties segment, consisting of the 6 real estate properties owned by CoreCivic and leased to government agencies.
 
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, our total segment net operating income, which we define as facility revenue (including interest 
income associated with finance leases) less operating expenses, was divided among our three business segments as follows:
 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Segment:                        
Safety     82.8 %    83.8 %    83.7 %    84.0 %
Community     5.3 %    4.1 %    4.4 %    3.8 %
Properties     11.9 %    12.1 %    11.9 %    12.2 %

 
Facility Operations

A key performance indicator we use to measure the revenue and expenses associated with the operation of the correctional, detention, and residential 
reentry facilities we own or manage is expressed in terms of a compensated man-day, which represents the revenue we generate and expenses we incur for 
one offender for one calendar day.  Revenue and expenses per compensated man-day are computed by dividing facility revenue and expenses by the total 
number of compensated man-days during the period.  A compensated man-day represents a calendar day for which we are paid for the occupancy of an 
offender. We believe the measurement is useful because we are compensated for operating and managing facilities at an offender per diem rate based upon 
actual or minimum guaranteed occupancy levels.  We also measure our costs on a per compensated man-day basis, which is largely dependent upon the 
number of offenders we accommodate.  Further, per compensated man-day measurements are also used to estimate our potential profitability based on 
certain occupancy levels relative to design capacity. Revenue and expenses per compensated man-day for all of the correctional, detention, and residential 
reentry facilities placed into service that we owned or managed, exclusive of those held for lease, and for TransCor were as follows for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:
 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Revenue per compensated man-day   $ 96.99     $ 93.51     $ 96.93     $ 92.69  
Operating expenses per compensated man-day:                        

Fixed expense     54.79       50.94       55.00       50.87  
Variable expense     22.18       21.81       21.66       21.11  

Total     76.97       72.75       76.66       71.98  
Operating income per compensated man-day   $ 20.02     $ 20.76     $ 20.27     $ 20.71  
Operating margin     20.6 %    22.2 %    20.9 %    22.3 %
Average compensated occupancy     70.3 %    69.5 %    70.2 %    70.0 %
Average available beds     71,068       73,266       71,068       73,422  
Average compensated population     49,926       50,893       49,885       51,429  
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Revenue

Total revenue consists of management revenue we generate through CoreCivic Safety and CoreCivic Community in the operation of correctional, 
detention, and residential reentry facilities, as well as the revenue we generate from TransCor and our electronic monitoring and case management services.  
Total revenue also consists of lease revenue we generate through CoreCivic Properties from facilities we lease to third-party operators. The following table 
reflects the components of revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in millions):
 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,              
    2023     2022     $ Change     % Change  

Management revenue:                        
Federal   $ 242.7     $ 245.0     $ (2.3 )     (0.9 %)
State     180.2       161.9       18.3       11.3 %
Local     8.4       8.0       0.4       5.0 %
Other     18.8       27.2       (8.4 )     (30.9 %)

Total management revenue     450.1       442.1       8.0       1.8 %
Lease revenue     13.6       14.5       (0.9 )     (6.2 %)
Other revenue     —       0.1       (0.1 )     (100.0 %)
Total revenue   $ 463.7     $ 456.7     $ 7.0       1.5 %

 
 

   
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,              
    2023     2022     $ Change     % Change  

Management revenue:                        
Federal   $ 479.9     $ 499.9     $ (20.0 )     (4.0 %)
State     359.3       316.6       42.7       13.5 %
Local     17.0       17.3       (0.3 )     (1.7 %)
Other     38.0       46.7       (8.7 )     (18.6 %)

Total management revenue     894.2       880.5       13.7       1.6 %
Lease revenue     27.4       29.1       (1.7 )     (5.8 %)
Other revenue     0.1       0.1       —       —  
Total revenue   $ 921.7     $ 909.7     $ 12.0       1.3 %

 
The $8.0 million, or 1.8%, increase in total management revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023 as compared with the same period in 2022 was 
primarily a result of an increase in revenue of approximately $15.8 million driven primarily by an increase of 3.7% in average revenue per compensated 
man-day.  The $13.7 million, or 1.6%, increase in total management revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2023 as compared with the same period in 
2022 was primarily a result of an increase in revenue of $38.3 million driven primarily by an increase of 4.6% in average revenue per compensated man-
day.  The increase in management revenue in both the three- and six-month periods was partially offset by a decrease in revenue of $8.2 million and $25.9 
million, respectively, driven primarily by a decrease in average daily compensated population from 2022 to 2023, as discussed further hereinafter.  The 
increase in average revenue per compensated man-day in both periods primarily resulted from the effect of per diem increases at several of our facilities. 
We believe the impact of these per diem increases will provide further benefit to our operating margins as residential populations continue to recover from 
the impact of COVID-19 and will help offset the wage and employee benefit increases we have been incurring, as further discussed hereinafter.  Revenue 
generated from our electronic monitoring and case management services during the three months ended June 30, 2023 increased $0.4 million (from $9.1 
million during the three months ended June 30, 2022 to $9.5 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023).   Revenue generated from our 
electronic monitoring and case management services during the six months ended June 30, 2023 increased $1.3 million (from $17.7 million during the six 
months ended June 30, 2022 to $19.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023). 

Average daily compensated population decreased 967, or 1.9%, to 49,926 during the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to 50,893 during the 
three months ended June 30, 2022.   Average daily compensated population decreased 1,544, or 3.0%, to 49,885 during the six months ended June 30, 2023 
compared to 51,429 during the six months ended June 30, 2022.  The decrease in average daily compensated population in both periods was primarily a 
result of the contract expiration at the 1,978-bed McRae Correctional Facility effective November 30, 2022, as further described hereinafter.  The decrease 
in average daily compensated population in both periods was offset by an increase in average population at our 3,060-bed La Palma Correctional Center, 
which was a result of a new management contract from the state of Arizona, and by an increase in occupancy at facilities where ICE is our federal partner, 
both as further discussed hereinafter. 
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The solutions we provide to our federal customers, including primarily ICE and the USMS, continue to be a significant component of our business. The 
federal customers in our Safety and Community segments generated approximately 52% and 54% of our total revenue for the three months ended June 30, 
2023 and 2022, respectively, decreasing $2.3 million, or 0.9%, during the three months ended June 30, 2023 as compared with the same period in 2022.  
The federal customers in our Safety and Community segments generated approximately 52% and 55% of our total revenue for the six months ended June 
30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, decreasing $20.0 million, or 4.0%, during the six months ended June 30, 2023 as compared with the same period in 2022.  
The expiration of the contract with the BOP at the McRae Correctional Facility resulted in a reduction in federal revenue of $10.3 million and $20.7 million 
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, from the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, accounting for a reduction of 2.3% 
of our total revenue in both the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.  The transition at our La Palma Correctional Center from an ICE population to 
the state of Arizona throughout 2022, as further described hereinafter, also contributed to a decrease in revenue from our federal partners.

The decision near the end of the first quarter of 2020 by the federal government to deny entry at the United States southern border to asylum-seekers and 
anyone crossing the southern border without proper documentation or authority in an effort to contain the spread of COVID-19, a policy known as Title 42, 
resulted in a reduction in people being apprehended and detained by ICE.  The financial impact was somewhat mitigated by fixed monthly payments from 
ICE at certain of our facilities, to ensure ICE has adequate bed capacity in the event of a surge in the future.  During 2022, revenue from ICE was $527.3 
million compared to $579.5 million during 2019, prior to the implementation of Title 42.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, revenue 
from ICE was $136.7 million and $267.4 million, respectively, compared to $129.6 million and $268.3 million, respectively, during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022.  Revenue from ICE increased at facilities other than our La Palma facility by $16.0 million and $26.1 million, respectively, 
from the comparable three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2022 due to increased occupancy and the impact of per diem increases at certain 
facilities.  Based on COVID-19 trends, the Department of Health and Human Services allowed Title 42 to expire on May 11, 2023, which has resulted in an 
increase in the number of undocumented people permitted to enter the United States claiming asylum, and has resulted in an increase in the number of 
people apprehended and detained by ICE.  Due to fixed payments under many of our federal contracts, the increase in residential populations does not 
result in a proportionate increase in our financial results at such facilities until populations clear the fixed payment levels for certain bed capacity.  During 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, revenue from ICE at our La Palma facility was $8.9 million and $27.0 million, respectively.  This facility 
was transitioned from an ICE population to the state of Arizona throughout 2022.  

State revenues from contracts at correctional, detention, and residential reentry facilities that we operate increased $18.3 million, or 11.3%, from the second 
quarter of 2022 to the second quarter of 2023.  State revenues increased $42.7 million, or 13.5%, from the six months ended June 30, 2022 to the 
comparable period in 2023.  State revenues in both periods increased primarily as a result of the new management contract with the state of Arizona at our 
3,060-bed La Palma Correctional Center for up to 2,706 inmates, as the state transferred inmate populations from public sector facilities into our La Palma 
facility.  We began receiving inmates from the state of Arizona in April 2022 and as of June 30, 2023, we cared for approximately 2,300 inmates from the 
state of Arizona at this facility.  State revenue at the La Palma facility increased $14.6 million and $34.3 million during the three and six months ended June 
30, 2023, compared with the same periods in the prior year.  State revenues also increased as a result of per diem increases under a number of our state 
contracts, as certain states have recognized the need to provide additional funding to address increases in the wages of our employees. 

Local revenues from contracts at correctional, detention, and residential reentry facilities that we operate increased $0.4 million, or 5.0%, from the second 
quarter of 2022 to the second quarter of 2023.  Local revenues decreased $0.3 million, or 1.7%, from the six months ended June 30, 2022 to the six months 
ended June 30, 2023. 

The $0.9 million, or 6.2%, decrease in lease revenue from the second quarter of 2022 to the second quarter of 2023, and the $1.7 million, or 5.8%, decrease 
in lease revenue from the six months ended June 30, 2022 to the comparable period in 2023 primarily resulted from the sale of two actively leased 
properties during the third quarter of 2022, as further described hereinafter. 

 
Operating Expenses

Operating expenses totaled $362.0 million and $349.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, while operating expenses 
for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 totaled $716.5 million and $693.6 million, respectively.  Operating expenses consist of those expenses 
incurred in the operation and management of correctional, detention, and residential reentry facilities, as well as those expenses incurred in the operations 
of TransCor and our electronic monitoring and case management services.  Operating expenses also consist of those expenses incurred in the operation of 
facilities we lease to third-party operators.  

Operating expenses incurred by CoreCivic Safety and CoreCivic Community in connection with the operation and management of our correctional, 
detention, and residential reentry facilities, as well as those incurred in the operations of TransCor and our electronic monitoring and case management 
services, increased $13.1 million, or 3.8%, during the second quarter of 2023 when compared with 
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the same period in 2022. Expenses incurred by these segments increased $23.0 million, or 3.3%, during the six months ended June 30, 2023, when 
compared to the same period in 2022. Operating expenses increased primarily as a result of wage increases primarily resulting from labor shortages and 
wage pressures, as further described hereinafter. We achieved higher staffing levels during the first six months of 2023 when compared to the same period 
in the prior year, and correspondingly, we were able to reduce our use of temporary incentives by $3.6 million and $5.7 million during the three- and six-
month periods of 2023, respectively, as we began to see improvement in our attraction and retention of facility staff in this challenging labor market.  We 
believe these investments in staffing have positioned us to manage the increased number of residents we began to experience during the second quarter of 
2023 now that the remaining occupancy restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, most notably Title 42, have been removed.  We expect to continue 
to invest in staffing resources during 2023, which may result in additional compensation and incremental expenses. The benefits of our investments in 
staffing may not be realized immediately or at all.  As the labor market improves and labor shortages and wage pressures are alleviated, which we believe 
will take some additional time, we expect to further reduce our reliance on these temporary incentives.  Additionally, operating expenses increased as a 
result of expenses incurred at our La Palma Correctional Center as utilization of the facility increased under the new contract with the state of Arizona 
while we contended with a challenging labor market.  The increase in operating expenses was partially offset by the contract expiration at the 1,978-bed 
McRae Correctional Facility effective November 30, 2022. In addition, during the six months ended June 30, 2023, we had more favorable claims 
experience in our self-insured employee medical and workers compensation plans when compared to the same period in the prior year, which also 
contributed to the partial offset in operating expenses during the six-month period of 2023.

Total expenses per compensated man-day increased to $76.97 during the three months ended June 30, 2023 from $72.75 during the three months ended 
June 30, 2022, and increased to $76.66 during the six months ended June 30, 2023 from $71.98 during the same period in the prior year.  We have 
experienced labor shortages and wage pressures in many markets across the country, and have provided customary inflationary wage increases to remain 
competitive.  Recruiting has been particularly challenging since the start of the pandemic due to the front-line nature of the services we provide and the 
shortage of nursing staff across the country intensified as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the challenging labor market.  The challenges of 
recruiting and retaining staff, including nursing, has been and could continue to be exacerbated by the current labor market.  Further, we have incurred 
incremental expenses to help ensure sufficient staffing levels under unique and challenging working conditions.  While, as mentioned in the preceding 
paragraph, we were able to reduce the use of these temporary incentives by $3.6 million and $5.7 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 
2023, respectively, when compared to the same periods in the prior year, we expect to continue to incur a certain level of incremental expenses during 
2023.  Incremental expenses include, but may not be limited to, incentive payments to our front-line and field staff, temporary employee housing expenses 
and other travel related reimbursements, additional paid time off, off-cycle wage increases in certain markets to remain competitive, and registry nursing 
expenses.  These incremental investments have enabled us to increase overall staffing levels, as described in the previous paragraph, contributing to the 
increase in total expenses per compensated man-day.  

We continually monitor compensation levels very closely along with overall economic conditions and will adjust wage levels necessary to help ensure the 
long-term success of our business. Further, we continually evaluate the structure of our employee benefits package and training programs to ensure we are 
better able to attract and retain our employees. Salaries and benefits represent the most significant component of our operating expenses, representing 
approximately 60% and 59% of our total operating expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  As previously mentioned 
herein, recruiting and retaining staff has been particularly challenging for us and for the corrections and detention industry as a whole. An inability to attract 
and retain sufficient personnel could prevent us from caring for additional residential populations for government agencies in need of additional capacity 
due to an increase in inmate populations or an inability to adequately staff their facilities. An inability to attract and retain sufficient personnel in our 
existing facilities could also cause our government partners to assess liquidated damages, reduce our residential populations, or in extreme circumstances, 
cancel our contracts.  We have also been subjected to staff vacancy deductions as a result of the labor shortages, which are reflected as reductions to other 
management revenue.  Estimating vacancy deduction amounts can be complex and subject to management judgment and estimations.  Some of our 
government partners have granted waivers for vacancy deductions in recognition of the unique and challenging labor market, while others have 
discretionarily adjusted such deductions based on our extraordinary costs, efforts and incentive programs implemented to attract and retain staff. 

Variable expenses per compensated man-day increased to $22.18 during the three months ended June 30, 2023, from $21.81 during the same period in the 
prior year, or 1.7%, and increased to $21.66 during the six months ended June 30, 2023 from $21.11 during the same period in the prior year, or 2.6%.  In 
addition to a high inflation rate applicable to all of our variable expenses, the increase in variable expenses per compensated man-day during the six-month 
period also resulted from increases in recruiting expenses, as well as travel expenses as we supported our staff who are temporarily deployed across the 
Company to help address the labor shortages we are experiencing in certain regions, most notably at our La Palma facility in Arizona.  Recruiting expenses 
increased $0.4 million, or $0.11 per compensated man-day, and $3.7 million, or $0.43 per compensated man-day, during the three- and six-month periods 
ended June 30, 2023, respectively, when compared with the same periods in 2022.  Travel expenses decreased $0.3 million, or $0.03 per compensated man-
day during the three-month period, and increased $2.4 million, or $0.31 per compensated man-day, during the  six-month period ended June 30, 2023 when 
compared with the same period in 2022. While the shortage of nursing staff across the country continues to be challenging, we experienced a decrease in 
registry nursing expenses of $5.1 million, or $1.09 per compensated 
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man-day, and $10.6 million, or $1.11 per compensated man-day, during the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2023, respectively, when 
compared with the same periods in 2022.  As previously mentioned, we have begun to see improvement in our recruiting and retention of facility staff, 
including nursing staff, as we have made investments in higher wages and increased our use of part-time positions, which helped us achieve higher staffing 
levels.  

Operating expenses incurred by CoreCivic Properties in connection with facilities we lease to third-party operators decreased $0.1 million, or 1.6%, during 
the second quarter of 2023 when compared with the same period in 2022, and remained stable during the six months ended June 30, 2023 when compared 
with the same period in 2022.  

Facility Management Contracts

We enter into facility management contracts to provide bed capacity and management services to governmental entities in our CoreCivic Safety and 
CoreCivic Community segments for terms typically ranging from three to five years, with additional renewal periods at the option of the contracting 
governmental agency. Accordingly, a substantial portion of our facility management contracts are scheduled to expire each year, notwithstanding 
contractual renewal options that a government agency may exercise. Although we generally expect these customers to exercise renewal options or negotiate 
new contracts with us, one or more of these contracts may not be renewed by the corresponding governmental agency. Further, our government partners 
can generally terminate our management contracts for non-appropriation of funds or for convenience. 

Additionally, on January 26, 2021, President Biden issued the Private Prison EO. The Private Prison EO directs the Attorney General to not renew DOJ 
contracts with privately operated criminal detention facilities.  The USMS, which is generally responsible for detainees who are awaiting trial, is an agency 
of the DOJ that utilizes our facilities and services. Another agency of the DOJ, the BOP, houses inmates who have been convicted, has experienced a steady 
decline in inmate populations over the last decade, a trend that was accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Our remaining prison contract with the BOP 
at the 1,978-bed McRae Correctional Facility expired on November 30, 2022 and was not renewed.  This contract accounted for 2% ($37.8 million) of our 
total revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. We completed the sale of the McRae facility in August 2022 to the Georgia Building 
Authority, and entered into an agreement to lease the facility through November 2022 to allow us to fulfill our obligations to the BOP.  ICE, another federal 
agency that utilizes our facilities and services, is not covered by the Private Prison EO, as ICE is an agency of the Department of Homeland Security, or 
DHS, not the DOJ.  For the six months ended June 30, 2023, USMS and ICE accounted for 22% ($198.7 million) and 29% ($267.4 million), respectively, 
of our total revenue.  For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, USMS and ICE accounted for 22% ($403.9 million) and 29% ($527.3 million), 
respectively, of our total revenue. 

Unlike the BOP, the USMS does not own detention capacity and relies on the private sector, along with various government agencies, for its detainee 
population. The USMS has been advised by the Office of the Deputy Attorney General not to renew existing contracts, or enter into new contracts for 
private detention facilities. We currently have two detention facilities that have direct contracts with the USMS that expire in September 2023 and 
September 2025.  The facility with the contract expiring in September 2023 services a substantial number of USMS detainees that we believe will be 
challenging to replace, and we intend to work with the USMS to enable it to continue to fulfill its mission. However, we can provide no assurance that this 
contract will be renewed or replaced upon expiration.  It is too early to predict the outcome of the expiration of the contract scheduled to expire in 
September 2025, and future developments could occur prior to the scheduled expiration date.   

On December 6, 2022, we received notice from the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, or CDCR, of its intent to terminate the lease 
agreement for our 2,560-bed California City Correctional Center by March 31, 2024, due to the state's declining inmate population.  As part of its annual 
budget process for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, the California legislature approved funding for the lease through March 31, 2024. We have 
engaged with the state of California regarding the continued utilization of our California City facility by the CDCR. However, we can provide no assurance 
that we will be successful in reaching an agreement for the utilization of the facility beyond March 31, 2024.  We are also marketing the facility to other 
potential customers.  Rental revenue generated from the CDCR at the California City facility was $7.9 million and $15.9 million for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and was $34.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.  Facility net operating income at the 
facility was $6.2 million and $12.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $27.9 million for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2022.

On April 25, 2023, we announced that we received notice from the Oklahoma Department of Corrections, or ODC, of its intent to terminate the lease 
agreement for our 2,400-bed North Fork Correctional Facility, reported in our CoreCivic Properties segment, upon the lease expiration on June 30, 2023.  
Rental revenue generated from the ODC at the North Fork facility was $3.1 million and $6.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, 
respectively, and $12.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.  Facility net operating income at this facility was $2.3 million and $4.7 
million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $9.3 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.  Upon expiration 
of the lease, the North Fork facility was idled in the third quarter of 2023.  We are marketing the facility to potential customers.
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On June 14, 2023, we announced that we entered into a lease agreement with the ODC for our 1,670-bed Davis Correctional Facility, which we currently 
report in our CoreCivic Safety segment and operate under a management contract with the ODC. The management contract was scheduled to expire on 
June 30, 2023.  However, effective July 1, 2023, we entered into a 90-day contract extension for the management contract, after which time, operations of 
the Davis facility will transfer from us to the ODC in accordance with the new lease agreement.  The new lease agreement includes a base term 
commencing October 1, 2023, with a scheduled expiration date of June 30, 2029, and unlimited two-year renewal options.  Annual lease revenue to be 
generated from the ODC at the Davis facility under the new lease agreement will be $7.5 million during the base term. Management revenue generated 
from the ODC at the Davis facility was $7.5 million and $14.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $29.1 million for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.  The Davis facility incurred a net operating loss of $0.9 million and $1.5 million for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $0.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. Upon commencement of the new lease agreement, 
the Davis facility will be reported in our CoreCivic Properties segment, and is expected to generate a margin consistent with the average operating margin 
we report in this segment.

Based on information available as of the date of this Quarterly Report, other than the previously mentioned lease agreements with the CDCR for our 
California City facility and the ODC for our North Fork facility, we believe we will renew all other contracts with our government partners that have 
expired or are scheduled to expire within the next twelve months that could have a material adverse impact on our financial statements. We believe our 
renewal rate on existing contracts remains high due to a variety of reasons including, but not limited to, the constrained supply of available beds within the 
U.S. correctional system, our ownership of the majority of the beds we operate, and the cost effectiveness of the services we provide.  However, we cannot 
assure that we will continue to achieve high renewal rates in the future.  

CoreCivic Safety 

CoreCivic Safety includes the operating results of the correctional and detention facilities that we operated during each period.  Total revenue generated by 
CoreCivic Safety increased $5.4 million, or 1.3%, from $416.4 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022 to $421.7 million during the three 
months ended June 30, 2023, and increased $8.8 million, or 1.1%, from $830.6 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022 to $839.4 million during 
the six months ended June 30, 2023.  CoreCivic Safety's facility net operating income decreased $6.1 million, or 6.6%, from $92.1 million during the three 
months ended June 30, 2022 to $86.0 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023, and decreased $10.1 million or 5.4% from $185.3 million 
during the six months ended June 30, 2022 to $175.3 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 
2023, CoreCivic Safety generated 82.8% and 83.7%, respectively, of our total segment net operating income, compared with 83.8% and 84.0%, 
respectively, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022. 

The following table displays the revenue and expenses per compensated man-day for CoreCivic Safety's correctional and detention facilities placed into 
service that we own and manage and for the facilities we manage but do not own, inclusive of the transportation services provided by TransCor:
 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

CoreCivic Safety Facilities:                        
Revenue per compensated man-day   $ 98.62     $ 95.31     $ 98.61     $ 94.34  
Operating expenses per compensated man-day:                        

Fixed expense     55.69       51.80       55.81       51.60  
Variable expense     22.82       22.43       22.21       21.69  

Total     78.51       74.23       78.02       73.29  
Operating income per compensated man-day   $ 20.11     $ 21.08     $ 20.59     $ 21.05  
Operating margin     20.4 %    22.1 %    20.9 %    22.3 %
Average compensated occupancy     70.8 %    70.2 %    70.8 %    71.0 %
Average available beds     66,399       68,397       66,399       68,553  
Average compensated population     46,993       48,004       47,031       48,644  

 

In December 2021, we were awarded a new management contract from the state of Arizona for up to 2,706 inmates at our 3,060-bed La Palma Correctional 
Center in Arizona. The State closed an outdated public-sector prison and transferred the inmate populations from this prison and multiple other public-
sector prisons to our La Palma facility.  The transfer began in April 2022 and during the first six months of 2023, we cared for an average daily population 
of 2,440 inmates from the state of Arizona at our La Palma facility.  During the first quarter of 2022, before the new contract commenced, the La Palma 
facility supported the mission of ICE by caring for an 
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average daily population of 1,678 detainees. The new award expands and strengthens our relationship with the state of Arizona and we believe will 
maximize the utilization of our La Palma facility, while providing ICE with the ability to continue its mission under existing contracts at alternative 
facilities we own and operate in the same geographic region. The transition of population from ICE detainees to inmates from the state of Arizona has 
resulted in the disruption of earnings and cash flows since the first quarter of 2022, and we expect this disruption will continue until we stabilize the 
operating expense structure at this facility by reducing incremental expenses associated with temporary staffing.  Facility net operating loss incurred by the 
La Palma facility increased by $0.5 million, and facility net operating income decreased by $7.9 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 
2023, respectively, contributing to the decline in operating margin in the CoreCivic Safety segment when compared with the comparable periods in 2022.  

Operating margins in the CoreCivic Safety segment have been negatively impacted by increased operating expenses per man-day, which was driven 
primarily by incremental staffing levels, higher wage rates and other related expenses. As previously described herein, we have experienced labor shortages 
and wage pressures in many markets across the country, and have provided inflationary wage increases to remain competitive, including increases to most 
of our facility staff during July of the last three years since the COVID-19 pandemic started.  Further, we have incurred incremental expenses to help ensure 
sufficient staffing levels under unique and challenging working conditions, including but not limited to, shift incentive bonuses, recruiting and retention 
bonuses, temporary employee housing expenses and travel reimbursements, off-cycle wage increases, as well as relocation incentives. While, as previously 
described herein, we were able to reduce the use of these temporary incentives during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 when compared to the 
same periods in 2022, we expect to continue to incur a certain level of additional incremental expenses during the remainder of 2023 as we expect to 
continue to invest in staffing resources. We believe the significant investments we have made in our workforce have positioned us well to meet the 
emerging needs of our government partners, as certain government agencies are experiencing an increase in the need for correctional and detention capacity 
in a post-pandemic environment, including as the result of the expiration of Title 42.  The negative impact on operating margins resulting from these factors 
was partially offset by a 3.5% and 4.5% increase in average revenue per compensated man-day during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, 
respectively, when compared to the prior year periods.  The increase in average revenue per compensated man-day resulted from the effect of per diem 
increases at several of our facilities, as we have received per diem increases resulting from additional government appropriations funding to address 
increases in the wages of our employees.  

As previously described herein, we had one prison contract with the BOP at our 1,978-bed McRae Correctional Facility, which expired in November 2022 
and was not renewed. During 2022, this facility generated facility net operating income of $6.4 million, including $2.4 million and $4.7 million during the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively. We entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with the Georgia Building Authority to purchase 
the McRae facility in July 2022 and completed the sale in August 2022. We leased the McRae Correctional Facility from the Georgia Building Authority 
through November 30, 2022 to allow us to fulfill our obligations to the BOP. We generated net sales proceeds of $129.7 million on the sale of the McRae 
facility, resulting in a net gain on the sale of $77.5 million, which we recognized in the third quarter of 2022.

As previously described herein, on June 14, 2023, we announced that we entered into a lease agreement with the ODC for our 1,670-bed Davis 
Correctional Facility, which we currently report in our CoreCivic Safety segment and operate under a management contract with the ODC. The 
management contract was scheduled to expire on June 30, 2023.  However, effective July 1, 2023, we entered into a 90-day contract extension for the 
management contract, after which time, operations of the Davis facility will transfer from us to the ODC in accordance with the new lease agreement.  The 
new lease agreement includes a base term commencing October 1, 2023, with a scheduled expiration date of June 30, 2029, and unlimited two-year 
renewal options.  Annual lease revenue to be generated from the ODC at the Davis facility under the new lease agreement will be $7.5 million during the 
base term. The annual rent during each renewal option term shall be mutually agreed upon by the parties.  Management revenue generated from the ODC at 
the Davis facility was $7.5 million and $14.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $29.1 million for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2022.  The Davis facility incurred a net operating loss of $0.9 million and $1.5 million for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2023, respectively, and $0.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. Upon commencement of the new lease agreement, the Davis 
facility will be reported in our CoreCivic Properties segment.
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CoreCivic Community 

CoreCivic Community includes the operating results of the residential reentry centers that we operated during each period, along with the operating results 
of our electronic monitoring and case management services.  Total revenue generated by CoreCivic Community increased $2.6 million, or 10.0%, from 
$25.8 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022 to $28.4 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023, and increased $4.9 million, or 
9.8%, from $49.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022 to $54.8 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023. CoreCivic Community's 
facility net operating income increased $1.0 million, or 21.5%, from $4.5 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022 to $5.5 million during the 
three months ended June 30, 2023, and increased $0.8 million, or 9.3%, from $8.4 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022 to $9.2 million 
during the six months ended June 30, 2023.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, CoreCivic Community generated 5.3% and 4.4%, 
respectively, of our total segment net operating income, compared with 4.1%  and 3.8%, respectively, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.  

The following table displays the revenue and expenses per compensated man-day for CoreCivic Community's residential reentry facilities placed into 
service that we own and manage, but exclusive of the electronic monitoring and case management services given that revenue is not generated on a per 
compensated man-day basis for these services:
 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

CoreCivic Community Facilities:                        
Revenue per compensated man-day   $ 70.77     $ 63.59     $ 69.28     $ 63.92  
Operating expenses per compensated man-day:                        

Fixed expense     40.40       36.67       41.72       38.03  
Variable expense     12.05       11.54       12.69       10.94  

Total     52.45       48.21       54.41       48.97  
Operating income per compensated man-day   $ 18.32     $ 15.38     $ 14.87     $ 14.95  
Operating margin     25.9 %    24.2 %    21.5 %    23.4 %
Average compensated occupancy     62.8 %    59.3 %    61.1 %    57.2 %
Average available beds     4,669       4,869       4,669       4,869  
Average compensated population     2,933       2,889       2,854       2,785  

 
Similar to our CoreCivic Safety segment, operating margins in our CoreCivic Community segment were negatively impacted during 2023 by increased 
operating expenses per man-day, which were driven primarily by higher staffing levels and wage rates and increased variable expenses, including most 
notably recruitment and travel related expenses during the six-month period. However, the effect of the increased operating expenses was more than offset 
during the three months ended June 30, 2023 when compared to the same period in the prior year, and was partially offset during the six months ended June 
30, 2023 when compared to the same period in the prior year, by an increase in average revenue per compensated man-day during 2023. Average revenue 
per compensated man-day increased primarily as a result of per diem increases and increased occupancy under contracts that have relatively higher per 
diem rates (business mix) at several of our facilities. However, similar to our CoreCivic Safety segment, occupancy in our CoreCivic Community facilities 
has not yet returned to pre-pandemic occupancy levels due to a variety of factors being evaluated by our government partners, including appropriated 
funding for non-secure residential contracts.  Because facilities in our Community segment are typically smaller in size than those in our Safety segment, 
occupancy changes have a larger impact on operating margin per compensated man-day.  Accordingly, modest changes in occupancy can have a notable 
impact in our Community segment.

Also contributing to the improved average compensated occupancy in the CoreCivic Community segment during the six months ended June 30, 2023 were 
the sales of our 120-bed Fox Facility and Training Center and our 90-bed Ulster Facility in the first quarter of 2022.  During the fourth quarter of 2021, we 
entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement for our Fox facility, which was sold in February 2022.  In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2021, we 
entered into a separate Purchase and Sale Agreement for our idled Ulster facility, which was sold in March 2022. The two facilities were located in Denver, 
Colorado and had been under-utilized by Denver County.   Also contributing to the improved average compensated occupancy in the CoreCivic 
Community segment during both the three- and six- month periods of 2023 was the sale of an idled residential reentry center in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 
in December 2022.  

CoreCivic Properties

CoreCivic Properties includes the operating results of the properties we leased to government agencies during each period.  Total revenue generated by 
CoreCivic Properties decreased $1.0 million, or 6.6%, from $14.5 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022 to $13.6 million during the three 
months ended June 30, 2023, and decreased $1.7 million, or 5.9%, from $29.1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022 to $27.4 million during 
the six months ended June 30, 2023.  CoreCivic Properties' facility net operating 
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income decreased $0.9 million, or 8.1%, from $11.1 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022 to $10.3 million during the three months ended 
June 30, 2023, and decreased $1.7 million, or 7.7%, from $22.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022 to $20.7 million during the six months 
ended June 30, 2023.  CoreCivic Properties generated operating margins of 76% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, compared with 
77% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.  The decreases in total revenue and net operating income were primarily the result of the two 
actively leased properties we sold in the third quarter of 2022, as further described hereinafter. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, 
CoreCivic Properties generated 11.9% of our total segment net operating income, compared with 12.1% and 12.2%, respectively, during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022.

During July 2022, we sold the Stockton Female Community Corrections Facility and the Long Beach Community Corrections Center, both located in 
California, generating net sales proceeds of $10.9 million. During our period of ownership in 2022, these two properties generated facility net operating 
income of $0.6 million, including $0.3 million and $0.5 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.  We reported an 
aggregate net gain on the sale of these two properties of $2.3 million during the third quarter of 2022.

During the third quarter of 2022, we began marketing for sale our Roth Hall Residential Reentry Center and the Walker Hall Residential Reentry Center, 
both located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  A purchase and sale agreement for these two Philadelphia properties was executed in March 2023 and the 
properties were sold on May 2, 2023, generating net sales proceeds of $5.8 million, resulting in a loss on sale of $25,000, which was reported in the second 
quarter of 2023.  During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, these two properties generated facility net operating income of $0.2 million.  During 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, these two properties generated facility net operating income of $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

On December 6, 2022, we received notice from the CDCR, of its intent to terminate the lease agreement for our 2,560-bed California City Correctional 
Center by March 31, 2024, due to the state's declining inmate population.  As part of its annual budget process for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, the 
California legislature approved funding for the lease through March 31, 2024. We have engaged with the state of California regarding the continued 
utilization of our California City facility by the CDCR. However, we can provide no assurance that we will be successful in reaching an agreement for the 
utilization of the facility beyond March 31, 2024.  We are also marketing the facility to other potential customers.  Rental revenue generated from the 
CDCR at the California City facility was $7.9 million and $15.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and was $34.0 
million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.  Facility net operating income at this facility was $6.2 million and $12.7 million for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and was $27.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. 

On April 25, 2023, we announced that we received notice from the ODC of its intent to terminate the lease agreement for our 2,400-bed North Fork 
Correctional Facility upon the lease expiration on June 30, 2023.  Rental revenue generated from the ODC at the North Fork facility was $3.1 million and 
$6.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $12.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.  Facility 
net operating income at this facility was $2.3 million and $4.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $9.3 million for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.  Upon expiration of the lease, the North Fork facility was idled in the third quarter of 2023.  We are 
marketing the facility to potential customers.  As previously described herein, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2023, a new lease agreement with the ODC 
for the Davis Correctional Facility is expected to commence, at which time the financial results will be reported in the CoreCivic Properties segment.  
Annual lease revenue to be generated from the ODC at the Davis facility under the new lease agreement of $7.5 million at a margin expected to be 
consistent with the average operating margin we report in this segment, will partially offset the reduction of lease revenue and net operating income that 
was previously generated under the lease agreement for the North Fork facility prior to its termination. 

General and administrative expenses

For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, general and administrative expenses totaled $32.6 million and $31.5 million, respectively, while 
general and administrative expenses totaled $65.3 million and $62.6 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  General 
and administrative expenses consist primarily of corporate management salaries and benefits, professional fees, and other administrative expenses. General 
and administrative expenses increased from the prior year periods primarily as a result of an increase in corporate management salaries and benefits, which 
was largely related to higher incentive-based compensation.  

Depreciation and amortization

For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, depreciation and amortization expense totaled $31.6 million and $32.3 million, respectively, while 
depreciation and amortization expense totaled $62.7 million and $64.3 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased primarily as a result of the previously described sale of the McRae Correctional Facility in the third 
quarter of 2022.
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Interest expense, net and expenses associated with debt repayments and refinancing transactions

Interest expense is reported net of interest income and capitalized interest for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.  Gross interest 
expense, net of capitalized interest, was $21.2 million and $24.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and was $43.3 
million and $49.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 or 2022, respectively. Gross interest expense was based on outstanding borrowings under 
our revolving credit facility, our outstanding term loan, our Term Loan B (which we repaid in full in May 2022, as further described hereinafter), our 
outstanding senior unsecured notes, and our outstanding non-recourse mortgage note, as well as the amortization of loan costs and unused facility fees.  
Interest expense during 2023 decreased primarily as a result of the $124.1 million repayment of the remaining balance of the Term Loan B during May 
2022 and the redemption of the outstanding balance of the 4.625% senior unsecured notes, or the 4.625% Senior Notes, on February 1, 2023, both as 
further described hereinafter.  In addition, the repurchase in the open market of $80.8 million principal amount of senior unsecured notes during 2022 
contributed to the decrease in interest expense.  The decrease in interest expense was partially offset by an increase in interest rates associated with our 
variable rate debt, as further described hereinafter.    

On May 12, 2022, we entered into a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, or the Bank Credit Facility, in an aggregate principal amount of 
$350.0 million, consisting of a $100.0 million term loan, or the Term Loan A, and a revolving credit facility with a borrowing capacity of $250.0 million, or 
the Revolving Credit Facility.  The Bank Credit Facility replaced the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, or the Previous Bank Credit 
Facility, which was in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion and consisted of a term loan, or the Previous Term Loan A, with an original principal 
balance of $200.0 million and a revolving credit facility with a borrowing capacity of $800.0 million.  During the second quarter of 2022, we incurred 
charges of $0.8 million for the write-off of a portion of the pre-existing loan costs associated with the Previous Bank Credit Facility, reported as expenses 
associated with debt repayments and refinancing transactions. 

On May 19, 2022, we voluntarily repaid in full the debt outstanding under our Term Loan B, amounting to $124.1 million, and satisfied all of our 
outstanding obligations under the Term Loan B. We did not incur any prepayment penalties in connection with the repayment of the Term Loan B, which 
had a scheduled maturity of December 18, 2024.  The prepayment was made in full with cash on hand. The Term Loan B bore interest at LIBOR plus 
4.50%, with a 1.00% LIBOR floor (or, at our option, a base rate plus 3.50%).  During the second quarter of 2022, we incurred charges of $6.0 million 
associated with the write-off of the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs and original issue discount resulting from the prepayment of the Term Loan 
B, reported as expenses associated with debt repayments and refinancing transactions. 

On December 22, 2022, we delivered an irrevocable notice to the holders of the 4.625% Senior Notes that we elected to redeem in full the 4.625% Senior 
Notes that remained outstanding on February 1, 2023.  The 4.625% Senior Notes were redeemed on February 1, 2023 at a redemption price equal to 100% 
of the principal amount of the outstanding 4.625% Senior Notes, which amounted to $153.8 million, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, 
the redemption date.  We used a combination of cash on hand and available capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility to fund the redemption.  
Following the redemption of the 4.625% Senior Notes, we have no debt maturities until 2026.

As further described hereinafter, during the second quarter of 2023, we incurred charges of $0.2 million primarily for the write-off of loan costs associated 
with the purchase of $21.0 million of our 8.25% Senior Notes through open market purchases. These charges were reported as expenses associated with 
debt repayments and refinancing transactions.

We benefited from relatively low interest rates on our Previous Bank Credit Facility, which was largely based on the London Interbank Offered Rate, or 
LIBOR.  Based on our total leverage ratio, borrowings under our Previous Bank Credit Facility were at the base rate plus a margin of 0.25% or LIBOR plus 
a margin of 1.25%, and a commitment fee equal to 0.30% of the unfunded balance of the Previous Bank Credit Facility.  Based on our total leverage ratio, 
interest on loans under our Bank Credit Facility through June 30, 2023 have been at a base rate plus a margin of 2.25% or at the Bloomberg Short-Term 
Bank Yield Index, or BSBY, rate plus a margin of 3.25%, and a commitment fee equal to 0.45% of the unfunded balance of the Revolving Credit Facility.  
In an effort to mitigate inflation, the Federal Reserve increased interest rates throughout 2022 and has continued to increase interest rates in 2023.  
Although we continue to be exposed to rising interest rates, we have reduced our exposure to rising interest rates by paying down our variable rate debt.  
The only remaining variable rate debt we have is associated with our Term Loan A, which had an outstanding balance of $93.1 million as of June 30, 2023, 
and our Revolving Credit Facility which, as of June 30, 2023, had no borrowings outstanding.

Gross interest income was $2.9 million and $2.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and was $5.9 million and $5.1 
million, for the six months ended June 30, 2023 or 2022, respectively.  Gross interest income is earned on notes receivable, investments, cash and cash 
equivalents, and restricted cash.  Interest income also includes interest income associated with the 20-year finance receivable associated with the Lansing 
Correctional Facility lease to the Kansas Department of Corrections, which commenced in January 2020, and amounted to $2.1 million and $2.2 million for 
the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
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respectively, and $4.3 million and $4.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  Total capitalized interest was $0.3 million 
and $0.5 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.

Income tax expense

We recorded an income tax expense of $4.2 million and $4.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $12.3 million 
and $10.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 or 2022, respectively. Income tax expense for the six months ended June 30, 2023 included an 
increase to income tax expense of $0.9 million for the revaluation of net deferred tax liabilities associated with a change in our corporate tax structure.  
During the first quarter of 2023, we completed a reorganization of our tax structure to simplify and more closely align operations and assets of certain of 
our subsidiaries and to reduce administrative efforts following our conversion from a real estate investment trust to a taxable C-corporation.  Income tax 
expense related to operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was partially offset by an income tax benefit of $2.0 million and $1.4 
million, respectively, associated with shareholder litigation expenses and expenses associated with debt repayments and refinancing transactions, net of an 
income tax expense associated with the gain on sale of real estate assets.    

Our effective tax rate could fluctuate in the future based on changes in estimates of taxable income, the implementation of additional tax planning 
strategies, changes in federal or state tax rates or laws affecting tax credits available to us, changes in other tax laws, changes in estimates related to 
uncertain tax positions, or changes in state apportionment factors, as well as changes in the valuation allowance applied to our deferred tax assets that are 
based primarily on the amount of state net operating losses and tax credits that could expire unused.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our principal capital requirements are for working capital, capital expenditures, and debt service payments, as well as outstanding commitments and 
contingencies, as further discussed in the notes to our financial statements. Effective January 1, 2021, we became subject to federal and state income taxes 
on our taxable income at applicable tax rates, and are no longer entitled to a tax deduction for dividends paid, which were available when we elected REIT 
status. However, we believe this conversion in corporate tax structure improves our overall credit profile and will lower our overall cost of capital, as we 
are able to allocate our free cash flow toward the repayment of debt, which may include the purchase of our outstanding debt in open market transactions, 
privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Any such debt repurchases will depend upon prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, 
contractual requirements, applicable securities laws requirements, and other factors.  From January 1, 2021 through June 30, 2023, we have repaid $653.9 
million of debt, net of the change in cash. Following our first priority of utilizing free cash flow to reduce debt, we expect to allocate a substantial portion 
of our free cash flow to returning capital to our shareholders, which could include share repurchases and future dividends. Any future dividend is subject to 
the Board of Directors', or BODs', determinations as to the amount of distributions and the timing thereof, as well as limitations under the Company's debt 
covenants.  We were not able to implement a meaningful share repurchase program under the REIT structure without increasing our debt because a 
substantial portion of our free cash flow was required to satisfy the distribution requirements under the REIT structure. On May 2, 2022, the BOD approved 
a share repurchase program to purchase up to $150.0 million of our common stock.  On August 2, 2022, the BOD increased the authorization to repurchase 
under the share repurchase program by up to an additional $75.0 million of our common stock, which resulted in a total aggregate authorized amount to 
repurchase up to $225.0 million of our common stock.  Repurchases of our outstanding common stock will be made in accordance with applicable 
securities laws and may be made at our discretion based on parameters set by our BOD from time to time in the open market, through privately negotiated 
transactions, or otherwise.  The share repurchase program has no time limit and does not obligate us to purchase any particular amount of our common 
stock.  The authorization for the share repurchase program may be terminated, suspended, increased or decreased by the BOD in its discretion at any time.  
Through December 31, 2022, we completed the repurchase of 6.6 million shares of our common stock at a total cost of $74.5 million, using cash on hand 
and cash provided by operations.  During the first six months of 2023, we completed the repurchase of an additional 2.6 million shares of our common 
stock at a total cost of $25.6 million.

We will also pursue attractive growth opportunities, including new development opportunities in our Properties segment, to meet the need to modernize 
outdated correctional infrastructure across the country, and explore potential opportunities to expand the scope of non-residential correctional alternatives 
we provide in our Community segment.  
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With the extensively aged criminal justice infrastructure in the U.S. today, we believe we can bring real estate and financing solutions to government 
agencies as we did in connection with the construction of the Lansing Correctional Facility that commenced operations in January 2020.  We financed the 
construction of the Lansing Correctional Facility 100% with project specific financing, requiring no equity commitment from us.  We believe we can also 
provide other real estate solutions to government agencies faced with extensively aged criminal justice infrastructure, including "turn-key" solutions similar 
to those we are providing to the state of Arizona in connection with the new contract that commenced during the second quarter of 2022 at our La Palma 
Correctional Center, as well as real estate only solutions to government agencies that need correctional capacity where they prefer to perform the 
operations, similar to our Davis Correctional Facility in Oklahoma, as previously described herein. In addition, in August 2022, we completed the sale of 
the 1,978-bed McRae Correctional Facility to the Georgia Building Authority in order to update its aged and inefficient public sector correctional 
infrastructure. Most real estate only solutions would not require material capital expenditures if we have existing capacity. However, in the future we could 
incur capital expenditures to provide replacement capacity for government agencies that have extensively aged criminal justice infrastructure and are in 
need of new capacity.

As of June 30, 2023, we had cash on hand of $41.8 million, and $232.6 million available under our Revolving Credit Facility.  During the six months ended 
June 30, 2023 and 2022, we generated $125.9 million and $94.3 million, respectively, in cash through operating activities.  We currently expect to be able 
to meet our cash expenditure requirements for the next year and beyond utilizing cash on hand, cash flows from operations, and availability under our 
Revolving Credit Facility. As of June 30, 2023, we had no debt maturities until April 2026.      

Our cash flow is subject to the receipt of sufficient funding of and timely payment by contracting governmental entities. If the appropriate governmental 
agency does not receive sufficient appropriations to cover its contractual obligations, it may terminate our contract or delay or reduce payment to us.  
Delays in payment from our major customers or the termination of contracts from our major customers could have an adverse effect on our cash flow and 
financial condition.  We have not experienced any unusual delays in payments from our major customers.

Debt 

As of June 30, 2023, we had $250.0 million principal amount of unsecured notes outstanding with a fixed stated interest rate of 4.75%, and $593.1 million 
principal amount of unsecured notes outstanding with a fixed stated interest rate of 8.25%, or the 8.25% Senior Notes, or collectively, the Senior Notes.  In 
addition, we had $148.0 million outstanding under the Kansas Notes with a fixed stated interest rate of 4.43% and $93.1 million outstanding under our 
Term Loan A with a variable interest rate of 8.4%.  We had $17.4 million of letters of credit outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility at June 30, 
2023.  There was no other amount outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility as of June 30, 2023.  As of June 30, 2023, our total weighted average 
effective interest rate was 7.5%, while our total weighted average maturity was 5.0 years.  Following the redemption of the 4.625% Senior Notes, we have 
no debt maturities until 2026.  In the second quarter of 2023, we purchased $21.0 million of the 8.25% Senior Notes at a weighted average purchase price 
approximately equal to par through open market purchases, reducing the outstanding balance of the 8.25% Senior Notes to $593.1 million as of June 30, 
2023.  In the future, we could elect to use our free cash flow to purchase additional Senior Notes in open market transactions, privately negotiated 
transactions or otherwise.

Operating Activities

Our net cash provided by operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was $125.9 million, compared with $94.3 million for the same period 
in the prior year.  Cash provided by operating activities represents the year to date net income plus depreciation and amortization, changes in various 
components of working capital, and various non-cash charges.  The increase in cash provided by operating activities resulted primarily from positive 
fluctuations in working capital accounts relative to the prior year six-month period.

Investing Activities

Our net cash flow used in investing activities was $21.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and was primarily attributable to capital 
expenditures for facility development and expansions of $3.2 million and $23.3 million for facility maintenance and information technology capital 
expenditures, partially offset by $5.9 million in net proceeds from the sale of assets.  Our net cash flow used in investing activities was $22.7 million for the 
six months ended June 30, 2022 and was primarily attributable to capital expenditures for facility development and expansions of $13.8 million and $20.1 
million for facility maintenance and information technology capital expenditures, partially offset by $11.0 million in net proceeds from the sale of assets.       

33



 

Financing Activities

Our net cash flow used in financing activities was $211.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and was primarily attributable to debt repayments 
related to the aforementioned $153.8 million redemption of the 4.625% Senior Notes and the $21.0 million purchase of the 8.25% Senior Notes in the 
second quarter of 2023.  In addition, our net cash flow used in financing activities was attributable to $5.5 million of scheduled principal repayments under 
our Term Loan A and our non-recourse mortgage note. Our net cash flow used in financing activities also included $30.5 million for the share repurchase 
program, as well as the purchase and retirement of common stock that was issued in connection with equity-based compensation, and dividend payments 
on restricted stock units that became vested of $0.1 million.

Our net cash flow used in financing activities was $254.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and was primarily attributable to debt 
repayments, including the aforementioned $167.5 million related to our Previous Term Loan A, $124.1 million related to our Term Loan B, and $3.6 
million related to our 4.625% Senior Notes.  In addition, our net cash flow used in financing activities was attributable to $10.3 million of scheduled 
principal repayments under our Term Loan A, Term Loan B, and our non-recourse mortgage note.  Our net cash flow used in financing activities also 
included $40.2 million for the share repurchase program, as well as the purchase and retirement of common stock that was issued in connection with 
equity-based compensation, and dividend payments on restricted stock units that became vested of $0.9 million.  These payments were partially offset by 
the $100.0 million of proceeds from the aforementioned issuance of the Term Loan A.

Supplemental Guarantor Information

All of the domestic subsidiaries of CoreCivic (as the parent corporation) that guarantee the Bank Credit Facility have provided full and unconditional 
guarantees of our Senior Notes.  All of CoreCivic's subsidiaries guaranteeing the Senior Notes are 100% owned direct or indirect subsidiaries of CoreCivic, 
and the subsidiary guarantees are full and unconditional and are joint and several obligations of the guarantors. 

As of June 30, 2023, neither CoreCivic nor any of its subsidiary guarantors had any material or significant restrictions on CoreCivic's ability to obtain 
funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan or to transfer assets from such subsidiaries.

The indentures governing our Senior Notes contain certain customary covenants that, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, restrict CoreCivic's 
ability to, among other things, create or permit to exist certain liens and consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of CoreCivic's assets.  In 
addition, if CoreCivic experiences specific kinds of changes in control, CoreCivic must offer to repurchase all or a portion of the Senior Notes.  The offer 
price for the Senior Notes in connection with a change in control would be 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes repurchased plus accrued 
and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes repurchased to the date of purchase. The indenture related to our 8.25% Senior Notes additionally limits our ability 
to incur indebtedness, make restricted payments and investments and prepay certain indebtedness.   

The following tables present summarized information for CoreCivic and the subsidiary guarantors, on a combined basis after elimination of (i) 
intercompany transactions and balances among CoreCivic and the subsidiary guarantors and (ii) equity in earnings from, and any investments in, any 
subsidiary that is a non-guarantor (in thousands).  

 
 

    June 30, 2023     December 31, 2022  
Current assets   $ 340,618     $ 415,304  
   Real estate and related assets     2,346,565       2,384,279  
   Other assets     186,859       204,606  
Total non-current assets     2,533,424       2,588,885  
Current liabilities     263,316       345,241  
   Long-term debt, net     918,670       942,147  
   Other liabilities     256,192       276,752  
Total long-term liabilities     1,174,862       1,218,899  
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For the Six
Months Ended 
June 30, 2023    

For the Twelve 
Months Ended 

December 31, 2022  
Revenue   $ 921,053     $ 1,844,084  
   Operating expenses     716,544       1,413,788  
   Other expenses     127,948       261,898  
Total expenses     844,492       1,675,686  
Income before income taxes     38,148       162,454  
Net income     25,826       119,472  

 

Funds from Operations

Funds From Operations, or FFO, is a widely accepted supplemental non-GAAP measure utilized to evaluate the operating performance of real estate 
companies. The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, defines FFO as net income computed in accordance with GAAP, 
excluding gains or losses from sales of property and extraordinary items, plus depreciation and amortization of real estate and impairment of depreciable 
real estate and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures calculated to reflect funds from operations on the same basis.  As a 
company with extensive real estate holdings, we believe FFO is an important supplemental measure of our operating performance and believe it is 
frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of REITs and other real estate operating companies, many of 
which present FFO when reporting results. 

We also present Normalized FFO as an additional supplemental measure as we believe it is more reflective of our core operating performance. We may 
make adjustments to FFO from time to time for certain other income and expenses that we consider non-recurring, infrequent or unusual, even though such 
items may require cash settlement, because such items do not reflect a necessary or ordinary component of our ongoing operations. Normalized FFO 
excludes the effects of such items.

FFO and Normalized FFO are supplemental non-GAAP financial measures of real estate companies' operating performance, which do not represent cash 
generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and therefore should not be considered an alternative for net income or as a measure of 
liquidity. Our method of calculating FFO and Normalized FFO may be different from methods used by other REITs and real estate operating companies 
and, accordingly, may not be comparable to such REITs and other real estate operating companies.

Our reconciliation of net income to FFO and Normalized FFO for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,  
FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS:   2023     2022  
Net income   $ 14,830     $ 10,562  
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets     24,198       24,501  
Loss (gain) on sale of real estate assets, net     25       (1,060 )
Income tax expense (benefit) for special items     (7 )     283  

Funds From Operations     39,046       34,286  
Expenses associated with debt repayments
    and refinancing transactions     226       6,805  
Income tax benefit associated with change in 
    corporate tax structure     (1,378 )     —  
Shareholder litigation expense     —       1,900  
Income tax benefit for special items     (68 )     (2,324 )

Normalized Funds From Operations   $ 37,826     $ 40,667  
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For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS:   2023     2022  
Net income   $ 27,230     $ 29,565  
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets     48,369       48,667  
Loss (gain) on sale of real estate assets, net     25       (3,321 )
Income tax expense (benefit) for special items     (7 )     908  

Funds From Operations     75,617       75,819  
Expenses associated with debt repayments
    and refinancing transactions     226       6,805  
Shareholder litigation expense     —       1,900  
Income tax expense associated with change in 
     corporate tax structure     930       —  
Income tax benefit for special items     (68 )     (2,324 )

Normalized Funds From Operations   $ 76,705     $ 82,200  

Material Cash Requirements

The following schedule summarizes our contractual cash obligations by the indicated period as of June 30, 2023 (in thousands):
 

    Payments Due By Year Ended December 31,  

   
2023

(remainder)     2024     2025     2026     2027     Thereafter     Total  
Long-term debt

  $ 6,253     $ 14,722     $ 17,698     $ 667,563     $ 256,855     $ 121,159     $
1,084,25

0  
Interest on senior and mortgage 
   notes     33,668       67,166       66,921       42,189       17,434       37,418       264,796  
Contractual facility developments 
   and other commitments     578       —       —       —       —       —       578  
South Texas Family Residential 
   Center     25,922       51,562       51,421       38,460       —       —       167,365  
Leases     2,510       4,903       4,751       4,154       3,579       14,869       34,766  
Total contractual cash obligations

  $ 68,931     $ 138,353     $ 140,791     $ 752,366     $ 277,868     $ 173,446     $
1,551,75

5  
 
The cash obligations in the table above do not include future cash obligations for variable interest expense associated with our Term Loan A or the balance 
outstanding on our Revolving Credit Facility, if any, as projections would be based on future outstanding balances as well as future variable interest rates, 
and we are unable to make reliable estimates of either.  Certain of our other ongoing construction projects are not currently under contract and thus are not 
included as a contractual obligation above as we may generally suspend or terminate such projects without substantial penalty. With respect to the South 
Texas Family Residential Center, the cash obligations included in the table above reflect the full contractual obligations of the lease of the site, excluding 
contingent payments, even though the lease agreement provides us with the ability to terminate if ICE terminates the amended inter-governmental service 
agreement associated with the facility.  

We had $17.4 million of letters of credit outstanding at June 30, 2023 primarily to support our requirement to repay fees and claims under our self-insured 
workers' compensation plan in the event we do not repay the fees and claims due in accordance with the terms of the plan, and for a debt service reserve 
requirement under terms of the Kansas Notes. The letters of credit are renewable annually.  We did not have any draws under these outstanding letters of 
credit during the six months ended June 30, 2023 or 2022.  
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INFLATION

Many of our contracts include provisions for inflationary indexing, which may mitigate an adverse impact of inflation on net income.  However, a 
substantial increase in personnel costs, workers' compensation, utilities, food, and medical expenses could have an adverse impact on our results of 
operations in the future to the extent that these expenses increase at a faster pace than the per diem or fixed rates we receive for our management services.  
As previously described herein, we have experienced increases in personnel costs and expect the labor market to remain challenging, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our operations.  We outsource our food service operations to a third party.  The contract with our outsourced food service vendor 
contains certain protections against increases in food costs.  

SEASONALITY AND QUARTERLY RESULTS 

Certain aspects of our business are subject to seasonal fluctuations.  Because we are generally compensated for operating and managing correctional, 
detention, and reentry facilities at a per diem rate, our financial results are impacted by the number of calendar days in a fiscal quarter. Our fiscal year 
follows the calendar year and therefore, our daily profits for the third and fourth quarters include two more days than the first quarter (except in leap years) 
and one more day than the second quarter.  Further, salaries and benefits represent the most significant component of operating expenses.  Significant 
portions of our unemployment taxes are recognized during the first quarter, when base wage rates reset for unemployment tax purposes.  Quarterly results 
are also affected by government funding initiatives, acquisitions, the timing of the opening of new facilities, or the commencement of new management 
contracts and related start-up expenses which may mitigate or exacerbate the impact of other seasonal influences. Because of seasonality factors, and other 
factors described herein, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for the full fiscal year. 

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Our primary market risk exposure is to changes in U.S. interest rates.  In an effort to mitigate inflation, the Federal Reserve increased interest rates 
throughout 2022 and has continued to increase interest rates in 2023.  It is anticipated that interest rates will continue to rise in the near term. We are 
exposed to market risk related to our Bank Credit Facility because the interest rates on these loans are subject to fluctuations in the market. If the interest 
rate for our outstanding indebtedness under the Bank Credit Facility was 100 basis points higher or lower (but not less than 0%) during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2023, our interest expense, net of amounts capitalized, would have been increased or decreased by $0.3 million and $0.6 million, 
respectively. 

As of June 30, 2023, we had $593.1 million of senior notes due 2026 with a fixed interest rate of 8.25% and $250.0 million of senior notes due 2027 with a 
fixed interest rate of 4.75%. We also had $148.0 million outstanding under the Kansas Notes with a fixed interest rate of 4.43%. Because the interest rates 
with respect to these instruments are fixed, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates would not have a material impact on 
our financial statements.

We may, from time to time, invest our cash in a variety of short-term financial instruments.  These instruments generally consist of highly liquid 
investments with original maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less. While these investments are subject to interest rate risk and will decline 
in value if market interest rates increase, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates would not materially affect the value of 
these instruments.  See the risk factor discussion captioned "Rising interest rates increase the cost of our variable rate debt" under Part 1, Item 1A of our 
2022 Form 10-K for more discussion on interest rate risks that may affect our financial condition.  

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act as of the 
end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report.  Based on that evaluation, our officers, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within 
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure.  There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
 

See the information reported in Note 8 to the financial statements included in Part I, which information is incorporated hereunder by this reference.

 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Item 1A of Part 1 of our 2022 Form 10-K includes a detailed discussion of the risk factors that could materially affect our business, financial condition or 
future prospects.  There have been no material changes in our risk factors previously disclosed in the 2022 Form 10-K.
 

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.
 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

 

Period  

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased    

Average 
Price

Paid per 
Share    

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased as
Part of Publicly

Announced
Plans or

Programs    

Approximate
Dollar Value of

Shares that
May Yet Be
Purchased 

Under the Plans
or Programs (1)  

April 1, 2023 - April 30, 2023     27,622     $ 8.87       27,622     $ 125,358,022  
May 1, 2023 - May 31, 2023     56,645     $ 7.97       56,645     $ 124,906,633  
June 1, 2023 - June 30, 2023     —     $ —       —     $ 124,906,633  

Total     84,267     $ 8.26       84,267     $ 124,906,633  

 
(1) On May 12, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Directors, or BOD, had approved a share repurchase program to repurchase up to $150.0 
million of the Company's common stock.  On August 2, 2022, the BOD increased the authorization to repurchase under the share repurchase program by up 
to an additional $75.0 million of the Company's common stock, which resulted in a total aggregate amount to repurchase up to $225.0 million of the 
Company's common stock.  Repurchases of the Company's outstanding common stock will be made in accordance with applicable securities laws and may 
be made at the Company's discretion based on parameters set by the BOD from time to time in the open market, through privately negotiated transactions, 
or otherwise. The share repurchase program has no time limit and does not obligate the Company to purchase any particular amount of its common stock.  
The authorization for the share repurchase program may be terminated, suspended, increased or decreased by the BOD in its discretion at any time. As of 
June 30, 2023, the Company had repurchased a total of 9.2 million common shares at an aggregate cost of approximately $100.1 million. 

 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.
 

None.

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
 

None.

 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.
 

None. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, during the three months ended June 30, 2023, no director or officer of the Company adopted or 
terminated any “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” or any “non-Rule 10b-5 trading arrangement,” as such terms are defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation 
S-K.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.
 

Exhibit
Number

 
Description of Exhibits

     
22.1*   List of Guarantor Subsidiaries.
     
31.1*   Certification of the Company's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as 

adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
     
31.2*   Certification of the Company's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as 

adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
     
32.1**   Certification of the Company's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
     
32.2**   Certification of the Company's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
     

101*   The following financial information from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023, 
formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) includes: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of 
Stockholders' Equity, and (v) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The instance document does not appear in the interactive 
data file because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

     

104*   The cover page from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023, formatted in Inline XBRL 
(included in Exhibit 101).

 
* Filed herewith.
 

** Furnished herewith. 
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
  CORECIVIC, INC.
     
Date:  August 8, 2023    
    /s/ Damon T. Hininger
    Damon T. Hininger
    President and Chief Executive Officer
     
    /s/ David M. Garfinkle
    David M. Garfinkle
    Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Principal 

Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 22.1

List of Guarantor Subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries of CoreCivic, Inc. (the "Issuer") are guarantors of the Issuer's (i) 8.25% Senior Notes due 2026; and (ii) 4.75% Senior Notes due 
2027:

ACS Corrections of Texas, L.L.C., a Texas limited liability company
Avalon Corpus Christi Transitional Center, LLC, a Texas limited liability company
Avalon Correctional Services, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company
Avalon Transitional Center Dallas, LLC, a Texas limited liability company
Avalon Tulsa, L.L.C., an Oklahoma limited liability company
Carver Transitional Center, L.L.C., an Oklahoma limited liability company
CCA Health Services, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company
CCA International, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
CCA South Texas, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company
CoreCivic, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
CoreCivic of Tallahassee, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company
CoreCivic of Tennessee, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company
CoreCivic Western Operations, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Correctional Alternatives, LLC, a California limited liability company
Correctional Management, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company
EP Horizon Management, LLC, a Texas limited liability company
Fort Worth Transitional Center, L.L.C., an Oklahoma limited liability company
Green Level Realty LLC, a Colorado limited liability company
Innovative Government Solutions, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company
National Offender Management Systems, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company
Prison Realty Management, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company
Recovery Monitoring Solutions LLC, a Texas limited liability company
Rocky Mountain Offender Management Systems, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company
Southern Corrections Systems of Wyoming, L.L.C., an Oklahoma limited liability company
Technical and Business Institute of America, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company
Thrivur Health, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company
Time To Change, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company
TransCor America, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company
Turley Residential Center, L.L.C., an Oklahoma limited liability company

 
 





 
Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Damon T. Hininger, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CoreCivic, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2023
 
  /s/ Damon T. Hininger
  Damon T. Hininger
  President and Chief Executive Officer
 
 





 
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, David M. Garfinkle, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CoreCivic, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2023
 
  /s/ David M. Garfinkle
  David M. Garfinkle
  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Principal Accounting 

Officer
 
 





 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of CoreCivic, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Damon T. Hininger, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
  /s/ Damon T. Hininger
  Damon T. Hininger
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  August 8, 2023
 
 





 
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of CoreCivic, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David M. Garfinkle, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
  /s/ David M. Garfinkle
  David M. Garfinkle

 
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Principal Accounting 
Officer

  August 8, 2023
 
 




